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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market desighed to accommodate small & mid-sized companies
to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there
is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there
will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of SK Target Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively
and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TREBES

Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the annual results of SK Target Group
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 May 2020.

REVIEW

It has been a challenging year for businesses worldwide,
especially the last quarter. We expect the global economy to
remain lacklustre with on-going trade war between China and
the Untied States of America since 2019, which has yet to come
to a conclusion and followed by the outbreak of the coronavirus
“COVID-19" (the “"COVID-19") in early 2020.

On 16 March 2020, the Government of Malaysia announced the
implementation of the Movement Control Order (the “MCO")
from 18 March 2020 until 31 March 2020 throughout Malaysia.
On 25 March 2020, the Government of Malaysia further
announced the extension of the MCO for additional two weeks
from 1 April 2020 to 14 April 2020. This is an effort to contain the
spread of COVID-19. During this time, all offices and business
premises are ordered to be closed, which has adverse effect on
our business.

The Group has experienced a decline in revenue of 21.86% for
the year ended 31 May 2020 when as compared to the revenue
for the year ended 31 May 2019. The revenue generated from
the manufacturing and trading of precast concrete junction
boxes decreased by approximately 17.05% while those from
the other building materials and services business segment
decreased by approximately 52.04%.

Nevertheless, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about the
overall business prospects.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBES

On 24 February 2017, the Group entered into a legally-binding
collaboration agreement with a ready-mix concrete supplier (the
“Ready-mix Concrete Supplier”), a company which holds a
valid batching plant licence for the supply of ready-mix concrete.
The estimated production capacity of the mini-batching plant
operated by the Ready-mix Concrete Supplier is approximately
26,400 m3 per annum. However, the management of the
Group considered there is no imminent need to commence
the collaboration arrangement. As such, during the year, the
Group continued to source ready-mix concrete from third party
suppliers, and the Group and the Ready-mix Supplier had not
implemented the collaboration agreement.

The management of the Group is committed to looking for
business opportunities that would generate long-term returns to
the shareholders of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TREBES

PROSPECT
The Group is taking positive steps to maintain the Group's
business operation and to build sustainable business operation
for the Group in order to maximize the shareholders’ return of
the Company.

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 together with the Sino-
US trade war continuing, the Board expects these factors
may create more uncertainty to the growth of the economy
in Malaysia in the foreseeable future. The Board will continue
to monitor the business environment in Malaysia and make
appropriate adjustments to the Group’s operations should there
be a need.

The Directors are also looking for appropriate investment
opportunities, especially on the vertical integration opportunity.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all
shareholders and Board members for their support and efforts to
the Group. | also express my sincere gratitude to our customers
and business partners for their continued support, as well as
to my colleagues and staffs for all their dedication, loyalty and
contribution to the Group.

Loh Swee Keong

Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 August 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWRE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group manufactures and sells precast concrete
telecommunication junction boxes and precast concrete
electrical junction boxes under our brand of “Target” in
Malaysia. The Group’s precast concrete junction boxes are used
in (i) telecommunication and electrical infrastructures upgrade
and expansion works; and (ii) construction projects in Malaysia.
They are buried underground to deter tampering and are used
to house and protect a junction with telecommunication and
electrical utility connection and distribution access points from
weather, changing elevation underground and provide easy
access for maintenance.

The Group has been a registered supplier or the approved
supplier of various notable telecommunication companies such
as Celcom Axiata Berhad and Telekom Malaysia (“Telekom”)
since 2008 and the registered supplier of Tenaga National Bhd.
("TNB"), the sole electric utility company, in Malaysia since
2012. Hence, the Group's precast concrete junction boxes
are used in infrastructure or construction projects involving
telecommunication companies and TNB.

For the year ended 31 May 2020, the revenue of the Group
decreased by approximately 21.86% mainly due to the outbreak
of the COVID-19 and the implementation of the MCO by the
Government of Malaysia for nearly one month. Economy has
therefore slowdown which in turn adversely impacted on the
demand and supply for the Group’s precast junction boxes as
well as other building materials and services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWR DM

Moreover, other factors which include labour shortage and
dependency on foreign workers, and the rising production and
transportation costs have exerted pressure on the Group's
business operations. Nevertheless, the Group remains cautiously
optimistic about the overall business prospects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue decreased from approximately RM29.5 million
for the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately RM23.0
million for the year ended 31 May 2020, representing a drop of
approximately 21.86%. Such decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in the revenue generated from the manufacturing and
trading of precast concrete junction boxes; and the trading of
accessories and pipes and provision of mobile crane rental and
ancillary services.

For the manufacturing and trading of precast concrete junctions
boxes business, the revenue decreased by approximately
17.05%, from approximately RM19.4 million for the year ended
31 May 2019 to approximately RM16.1 million for the year
ended 31 May 2020. The decrease was mainly caused by the
uncertainty of Malaysia’s economy which had impacted on the
progress of our customers’ projects and the order they place to
our Group.

For the trading of accessories and pipes and the provision of
mobile crane rental and ancillary services business, the revenue
decreased by approximately 52.04%, from approximately RMé.7
million for the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately RM3.2
million for the year ended 31 May 2020. The decrease was
mainly caused by the decrease in sales of scrap iron and pipes.

For the Japanese catering services, the revenue increased by
approximately 18.57%, from approximately RM3.0 million for
the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately RM3.6 million for
the year ended 31 May 2020. The increase is mainly due to the
fact that there are more recurring customers. Also, the sourcing
service of materials has contributed a small portion to the
Group's revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWRE DN

Cost of sales and Gross Profit

Costs of sales mainly consists of (i) cost of raw materials and
trading products; (ii) manufacturing overheads; (iii) direct labour;
(iv) crane hiring costs; and (v) food costs. The cost of sales
decreased from approximately RM21.9 million for the year ended
31 May 2019 to approximately RM16.3 million for the year ended
31 May 2020, representing a decrease of approximately 25.29%.
Such change was consistent with the decrease in revenue during
the year ended 31 May 2020.

The total cost of sales from the manufacturing and sale of
precast concrete junction boxes decreased from approximately
RM14.2 million for the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately
RM11.6 million for the year ended 31 May 2020.

The Gross Profit decreased from approximately RM7.6 million for
the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately RM6.7 million for
the year ended 31 May 2020.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group increased by
approximately RM1.6 million or 18.59% from approximately
RM8.7 million for the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately
RM10.4 million for the year ended 31 May 2020.

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly consisted of
salaries, welfare and other benefits, rent and rates, general
office expenses, depreciation and professional service fees. The
increase was mainly attributable to the increase in staff costs
due to business expansion and other cost associated with the
development of the Japanese catering services.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately RMO0.1 million or 10.5% from approximately RM1.1
million for the year ended 31 May 2019 to approximately RM1.0
million for the year ended 31 May 2020.

The Group's selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted
of salaries, welfare and other benefits for sales and marketing
staff and travelling and entertainment expenses. The slight
decrease of selling and distribution expenses was mainly due to
the decrease in salary and incentive paid to sales and marketing
staffs with the decrease in sales of the manufacturing and
trading business.

HERANRER
HERATZBRENEMHRESERKAE
(REER:(NEZES T (EEHRHAR
B - RWR GRS © §5 & AR B &L 22019
FSABMBALLFEANIAECERIERE
20205 AN B L FEH63EB S  [£18
#125.29% - B BIE B Y A E20204F5 4318
IEFE AR APEE— 2 -

B NHETERUE R T RS MBS A S
HZEZ2019F5A31MHIEEEN42BEE ST
DEHE202065A83NB IEFELHNEES

==

5 °

EANBEBE2019F5A3NBIEFEN76BES
TR EEE2020F5ANB I FEL6TE S

A,
<"\

THRAX

REBMOITHAZHBZE2019F5A318 EF
EH87TEBSTEMMN.66ESE H18.59%
EEZE2020F5A3MB EFELNI04HEST ©

AEENTERXEIECRFHE B REAM
w/A - MEREM —BBRIEFRX - TER
BEXRGE - BREMDEZANETERS
BHB TARANEER B AERIREAHEOE
1t & FRIE A0 ©

HERDHBAX

REBRIHE KoM AEE2019F5A31
BIEFEMIBEESTRIO0IEEST X
10.5%Z & Z=202065A318 L FE£1.0A 8

At
~< B

o

AEENHENR D HAX IR REHENRTS
HEETHHSE B REMRN AR ZRE
BERAX - HERD HASENR D I EEH
REEREZHEBIHERDEEIN TIHER
IS HEE B THH & KRR PR -

WHmEEARAT /2020 £ 11



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWR DM

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately RM4.4 million
for the year ended 31 May 2020 (31 May 2019: approximately
RM2.7 million) due to the net effect of (i) the decrease in
revenue for the year ended 31 May 2020; and (ii) the increase in
the administrative expenses incurred by the Group for the year
ended 31 May 2020.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
Operational risk

The Group’s operation is subject to general economic and
market risks which may affect the competition and profitability
of construction projects. The Group’s key risk exposures are
summarised as follows:

(@  Fluctuation in the prices of our major raw materials may
have adverse impacts on the Group’s financial results;

(b) The Group’'s revenue is mainly derived from the
manufacturing and sale of precast concrete junction boxes
to its customers for infrastructure upgrades and expansion
work for construction projects, which are non-recurrent in
nature and there is no guarantee that the customers will
place new business purchase orders; and

(c) The Group's cash flow position may deteriorate owing to
a mismatch between the time of receipt of payments from
its customers and payments to its suppliers if the Group is
unable to manage its cash flow mismatch properly.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risks Factors” in the prospectus of the
Group dated 6 July 2017 (the “Prospectus”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWRE DN

Financial risks

As a manufacturer of precast concrete junction boxes, the Group
has to purchase raw materials from its suppliers from time
to time based on its procurement policy. The Group relies on
cash inflow from its customers to meet its payment obligations
to our suppliers. The Group’s cash inflow is dependent on the
prompt settlement of its payments. As at 31 May 2020, the
Group recorded trade receivables amounting to approximately
RM8.0 million, the number of trade receivables turnover days
was approximately 142 days which exceeded the credit period
stipulated on the Group’s service agreements with its customers
with average trade payable turnover days of approximately
80 days. The Group is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk.
For further details, please refer to note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 May 2020, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was
approximately RM22.8 million (31 May 2019: approximately
RM20.9 million).

As at 31 May 2020, the Group has no borrowings (31 May 2019:
Nil).

As at 31 May 2020, the Group's current ratio was 4.2 (31 May
2019: 5.8), which is calculated based on the total current assets
divided by the total current liabilities. The gearing ratio was Nil
as at 31 May 2020 and 31 May 2019, which is calculated based
on the total interest-bearing loans divided by the total equity.

As at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020, the Group had no bank
borrowings. The Group’s financial position is sound and
strong. With available bank balances and cash and bank credit
facilities, the Group has sufficient liquidity to satisfy its funding
requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWR DM

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group
during the year. The share capital of the Group only comprises
of ordinary shares.

As at 31 May 2020, the share capital and equity attributable to
owners of equity of the Company amounted to approximately
RM3.8 million and approximately RM32.3 million respectively (31
May 2019: RM3.4 million and RM32.1 million respectively). Details
of the capital risk management are set out in the note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 May 2020, the Group has no capital commitments in
respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (31
May 2019: Nil).

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE FLUCTUATION
Since a substantial amount of income and profit of our Group
is denominated in Malaysian Ringgit (“RM"), any fluctuations in
the value of RM may adversely affect the amount of dividends,
if any, payable in HKD to our Shareholders. Furthermore,
fluctuations in the RM’s value against other currencies will
create foreign currency translation gains or losses and may have
an adverse effect on our Group’s business, financial condition
and results of operations. Any imposition, variation or removal
of foreign exchange controls may adversely affect the value,
translated or converted into HKD, of our Group’s net assets,
earnings or any declared dividends. Consequently, this may
adversely affect our Group's ability to pay dividends or satisfy
other foreign exchange requirements. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

CHARGE OVER ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 May 2020, the Group had bank deposits pledged with
banks totalling approximately RM1.1 million (31 May 2019:
approximately RM1.0 million). These deposits were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
As at 31 May 2020, the Company did not have any significant
investments held.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS,
AND PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There were no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and affiliated companies during the year ended 31 May 2020.
Save as the planned acquisition of a piece of land in South
Malaysia as set out in the section headed “"Use of Proceeds From
The Share Offer”, there is no specific future plan for material
investments or capital assets as at the date of the report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 May 2020, we had 82 employees who are located in
Malaysia and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
The Group generally recruits employees from the open market
by placing recruitment advertisements. The Group entered
into individual labour contracts with each of the employees in
accordance with the applicable labour laws of Malaysia and
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, which cover
matters such as wages, employee benefits and grounds for
termination. The remuneration package that the Group offers
to the employees includes salary, bonuses, allowances and
medical benefits. In general, the Group determines a Director’s
and an employee’s salary based on the Director's and the
employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and the
prevailing market remuneration rate. The Group has designed
a review system to assess the performance of our employees
once a year, which forms the basis of our decisions with respect
to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions. The long term
incentive scheme of the Group include a share option scheme.
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COMPARISON OF BUSINESS OBJECTIVES WITH
ACTUAL BUSINESS PROGRESS

An analysis comparing the business objectives as disclosed in
the Prospectus with the Group's actual business progresses for
the period from 19 July 2017 (the “Listing Date"”) to 31 May
2020 is set out as below:

Business Objectives

Progress

EREREERERERNLER
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Expansion of production capacity

The funds have been used to purchase several lorry cranes and

junction box moulds. The Group also recruited 28 staffs for
the expansion and renovation works.
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Expansion on marketing and sales team

The funds have been used to recruit a new General

Sales Manager and a Sales Executive

BATIZHEE M HEEK

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

The shares of the Company were listed on 19 July 2017 on
the GEM by a Share Offer (the “Listing”). The Offer Price was
HKDO0.28 per Offer Share. The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Share Offer, after deducting underwriting
fees and other expenses, were approximately HKD29.6 million.

The net proceeds from the Listing have not been fully utilized up
to the year ended 31 May 2020 in accordance with the expected
timeline set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of
Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

The following table lists out the updated expected timeline of
utilization of the net proceeds and the usage up to the year
ended 31 May 2020.
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Amount Amount
utilised from utilised
the Listing for the Unutilised
Net proceeds Date to  year ended balance up
from the 31 May 31 May to 31 May
share offer 2019 2020 2020
BLmHMEE EE20205%
RARE 2019F58310 5A31HLEEE 202065A31H
FRRERR EE)ik EBfALHE ABRER
HKD million HKD million HKD million HKD million
BEAT BEBT BEBT BEAT
(Note a)
(Fiiza)
Expansion of production capacity FRATAAEAER
through
() expanding our Existing Selangor () BRBEEZHEHE 7.0 (3.0 (0.5) 35
Plant Note (b)
iz3(0)
(i) completing the establishment of (i) ZEREVHEREHEER 7.3 (13) - 6.0
our New Kulaijaya Plant and Note (c)
)
(iii) recruiting new staff (i) EEHMET 2.6 0.4) 0.1) 2.1
Note (d)
Hata)
Acquisition of a parcel of land in B B SR A T El AP A 3R 8.4 - - 8.4
Southern Malaysia Note (e)
Histte)
Expansion of our business vertically — #i@4HE RUE AR R 1 2.7 - - 27
in the supply chain of the precast BaTEmEEREANRR Note (f)
concrete junction box industry IR ER iogl),
through mergers and acquisitions
Expansion of our sales and marketing A $4E R miEHERMK 0.8 (0.4) 0.2) 0.2
team Note (g)
i)
General working capital —-REBER 08 0.8) - -
Total st 29.6 (5.9 0.8) 229

HREEABRAR /2020 £

17



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEBNWR DM

Notes:

(@) The unused Listing proceeds have been deposited in licensed
banks in Malaysia and Hong Kong.

(b)  The Listing proceeds of approximately HKD3.5 million have not
been utilised as at 31 May 2020. The Group intends to use up the
remaining fund for expanding our Existing Selangor Plant by 30
November 2021.

(c)  The Listing proceeds of approximately HKD6.0 million have
not been utilised as at 31 May 2020. The Group will use up the
remaining fund for completing the establishment of the New
Kulaijaya Plant by 30 November 2021.

(d)  The Listing proceeds of approximately HKD2.1 million have not
been utilised as at 31 May 2020. The Group intends to use up the
remaining fund by 30 November 2021.

(e)  The Listing proceeds of approximately HKD8.4 million have not
been utilised as at 31 May 2020. The Group intends to use up the
remaining fund by 30 November 2021.

(f) The Listing proceeds of approximately HKD2.7 million have not
been utilised as at 31 May 2020. The Group intends to use up the
remaining fund by 30 November 2021. As at 31 May 2020, the
Directors had not identified any acquisition target.

(g)  The Listing proceeds of approximately HKD0.2 million have not
been utilised as at 31 May 2020. The Group intends to use up the
remaining fund by 30 November 2021.

In view of the outbreak of the COVID-19 and the global dropping
in the revenue of the manufacturing and trading of precast
concrete junction boxes segment, the management of the Group
have a reservation view over the current timetable to expand
the Group's production capacity, particularly in the acquisition
of a piece of land in South Malaysia and vertical business
expansion. The Group will closely monitor both the internal and
the external factors and will decide on the pace of expansion
of our production capacity in due course. The Directors will
constantly evaluate the Group’s business objectives and will
change or modify plans against the changing market conditions
to ascertain the business growth of the Group.

As at the date of this report, the Directors do not anticipate any
change to the plan as to the use of proceeds.
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THE ISSUE OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

On 17 April 2020, the Company entered into a Subscription
Agreement with Mr. Ho Ivan Siu-Hin (the “Subscriber”),
pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to subscribe and the
Company agreed to issue a total of 68,200,000 new ordinary
shares at par value of HK0.01 per share of the Company at the
price of HKO0.125 per share (the “Subscription Shares”) and the
net subscription price per Subscription Share was approximately
HK$0.1246. The aggregate nominal value of the Subscription
Shares was HK$682,000. The market price was HK$0.15 per
share on 17 April 2020. The Subscription Shares have been
issued pursuant to the general mandate to allot and issue up to
a maximum of 124,000,000 shares granted to the Directors of
the Company by a resolution of the shareholders passed at the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 25 November 2019.
The subscription completed on 8 May 2020. The net proceeds of
approximately HK$8,500,000 was intended to be used as general
working capital of the Group. Approximately HK$3,485,000 has
been utilized as general working capital up to the year ended 31
May 2020 and the remaining is expected to be fully utilized no
later than 31 May 2021.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD
There are no significant event after the reporting period.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Loh Swee Keong, aged 53, is the founder of the Group.
He was appointed to the Board on 28 October 2016 and is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company. He is
responsible for the overall business strategy, approving annual
budget proposals, and major business decisions of the group.
Mr. Loh has over 20 years of work experience in the precast
concrete junction box industry. Mr. Loh completed his secondary
school from five level education in Tsung Wah National Type
Secondary School, Kuala Kangsar, Perak, Malaysia in November
1985.

Before establishing the group, Mr. Loh established a sole
proprietorship under the name Jackon Trading in 1989, where
he was primarily involved in the supply of ready-mix concrete
to construction companies in Malaysia. In March 1993, Mr. Loh
co-founded Target Precast, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group which was at that time primarily involved in the
supply of ready-mix concrete to construction companies,
negotiating business with customers and responsible for the
daily operations of the group. In 1995, Mr. Loh, for the first time,
manufactured the moulds using the then existing technology for
precast concrete junction boxes and commenced the production
and manufacturing of precast junction concrete boxes to
customers.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yau Ka Hei (BB &), aged 36, was appointed as our
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from 27 June 2017 and is a member of the Audit Committee,
and the Nomination Committee and the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Yau is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
October 2016. He obtained his Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration in Business Economics from the City University of
Hong Kong in November 2007.

In September 2007, Mr. Yau was employed as an associate of
the Assurance Department of PricewaterhouseCoopers where he
was responsible for evaluating internal control environments and
system processes, and identifying opportunities for improving
companies’ internal controls, operation workflows and integrity
of financial records. He then joined the Bank of Communications
in August 2010 as an officer of the Finance Department where
he was responsible for, among others, preparing IFRS financial
reports to the head office in the PRC and the external auditors.
From February 2011 to November 2011, he worked as a senior
accountant at the Assurance Department of Ernst & Young.
From June 2012 to August 2016, Mr. Yau worked as an internal
auditor of Kaisun Energy Group Limited (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange with stock code 8203) a company engaged in (i)
mining and metallurgical machineries production; (ii) provision of
supply chain management for mineral business; (iii) exploitation
and production of coal; and (iv) securities investment where he
was responsible for among others, (a) preparing internal control
report of operational and financial processes and reporting
to the audit committee of the company; and (b) performing
due diligence providing advice of the operational and financial
arrangements for merger and acquisition projects.
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From October 2016 to February 2017, Mr. Yau worked in Deckers
Asia Pacific Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Deckers
Outdoor Corporation (a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange) as an internal auditor, where he was responsible for
validating audit on operation and finance management. From
June 2017 to August 2017, Mr. Yau worked as an assistant
account manager of Magico Group Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of China Properties Group Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code 1838), a company
engaged in property development and property investment in
the PRC, where he is responsible for overseeing accounting
activities of the company. Mr. Yau is currently the finance
manager of a Hong Kong company, which engages in energy
trading business.

Mr. Chu Kin Ming (5&%&8) , aged 40, was appointed as our
Independent Non-executive Director on 27 June 2017 and is
a member of the Remuneration Committee and the Chairman
of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Chu obtained his
Bachelor of Arts Degree in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in November 2003. Mr. Chu has more than
15 years working experience in the accounting and company
secretarial field.

Mr. Chu has served as a chief financial officer and the company
secretary of companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu
is currently the company secretary of Sino-life Group Limited, a
company listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange (stock code:
8296).

Mr. Chu is a member of (i) the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants; (ii) the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants; (iii) the Hong Kong Chartered Secretaries; and (iv)
the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert (5% 2) , aged 59, graduated from
Pomona College, California, USA with a Bachelor of Arts Degree
in 1983. Mr. Ma possesses extensive experience in corporate
banking and private banking in major USA and European
financial institutions. He was previously a vice president of a
renowned USA investment bank in Hong Kong. He is currently a
general manager of Incu Corporate Finance Limited, a consulting
firm, where he is responsible for office administration.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Low Yew Kuan, aged 53, is the Head of Finance of the
Malaysia’s subsidiaries of the Group. He is responsible for the
daily operations and the financial and accounting activities of
the group. Mr Low obtained his Bachelor’'s Degree in Business
Administration from the RMIT University, Melbourne in Jan
2001. He was further admitted as a fellow of the Institute of
Financial Accountants in the United Kingdom in June 2005
and the Institute of Public Accountants, Melbourne, Australia
in June 2015. Mr Low has over 28 years of experience in the
manufacturing and accounting field.

Before joining our Group in January 2018, Mr Low worked as
Accounts Manager in the Finance Division of Viscount Plastics
Industry Sdn Bhd for the period from February 1992 to May
2005.In June 2005, Mr Low joined Lam Seng Plastics Sdn Bhd
as Finance & Admin Manager. In May 2012, Mr Low worked as
Finance Manager of the Finance Department in KMC Packaging
Sdn Bhd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of a Singaporean listed
company. He was later promoted as Acting General Manager
in year 2016. In 2016, Mr Low joined Crown Beverage Cans
(Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Crown which
is listed on the New York Stock Exchange) as Head of Finance.

Mr. Leung Tze Wai ($¥4&), aged 37, was appointed as the
Company Secretary on 1 November 2018. He holds a Bachelor
Degree of Commerce (Accounting) from the University of
Adelaide, Australia. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the CPA
Australia and is currently the Finance Manager of the Company.
He has over 10 years' experience in the auditing, accounting and
financial sectors.
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Mr. Ma Hong Chee, aged 52 is the Operations Manager of the
Group. He is responsible for overseeing the production activities
of our production plant. Mr. Ma completed SRP, Malaysia
Sekolah Menengah Tanah Putih, Kuantan, Pahang.

From October 1996 to April 2010, Mr. Ma joined Grobest
Frozen (M) Sdn., Bhd. where he was responsible for (i) setting
up the processing plant operation system; (ii) in production
planning and operation; (iii) monitoring purchasing flow and
supplier management flow; and (iv) implementing and managing
marketing programmes. His last position with the company was
manager.

Ms. Siew Poi Voon, aged 42 is the Factory Manager. She is
responsible for overseeing the manufacturing and operations of
the production activities of the Group. Ms. Siew joined the Group
as a Human Resource and Administration Executive in March
2013 and was promoted as our Assistant Factory Manager in
April 2015. Ms. Siew was subsequently appointed as our Factory
Manager in August 2016. Ms. Siew obtained a Bachelor’s Degree
in Human Development from the University Putra Malaysia in
July 2001.

From August 2001 to March 2003, Ms. Siew worked as the
Human Resource Officer of YP Precision (M) Sdn. Bhd. where she
was responsible for general human resource functions which
include payroll, training and development, recruitment as well
as matters pertaining to foreign workers in the company. She
subsequently joined the Delcol Water Solution Sdn. Bhd. in April
2003 as a Human Resource Executive. In December 2007, Ms.
Siew joined Jordone Corporation Sdn. Bhd. as a Human Resource
and Administration Executive. She was subsequently promoted
to the post of Assistant Administrative Manager in August 2009
where she was responsible for the company’s purchasing,
advertising and branding (including media and branding) as well
as general administration duties.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The Board is pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 May 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group is principally engaged in (i) manufacturing
and trading of precast junction boxes, (ii) trading of accessories
and pipes and provision of mobile crane rental and ancillary
services in Malaysia (iii) Japanese catering services in Hong Kong
and (iv) sourcing services in Hong Kong.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, the Group has complied with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations
of the Group.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation to which
the Shareholders are entitled by reason of their holding of the
Shares.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on
pages 42 to 63 of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Analysis of the Group’s turnover and contribution by principal
business segments during the Year are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of business review of the Group for the year ended
31 May 2020 is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” on pages 6 to 8 and the business review and outlook
of the Group is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 19 of this annual
report. The discussion and analysis of the Group's performance
during the year and the material factor underlying its financial
performance and financial position are set out in “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 9 to 19 respectively.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The result of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2020 and
the state of the affairs of the Group as at that date are set
out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on page 71.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 May 2020 (2019: Nil).

There is no arrangement that a shareholder of the Company has
waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of published results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statement and the Prospectus, is set out on
page 176 on this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital and movements during
the Year are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position and in the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity set out on pages 74 and 75 respectively.

DISTRIBUTION RESERVES

As at 31 May 2020, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution which consists of retained profit and the aggregate
amount of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company is nil (2019: RM4.2 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the law of Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the year
ended 31 May 2020.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that our employees, customers and
suppliers are key stakeholders to the Group’s success. The
Group strive to achieve corporate sustainability through
engaging employees, providing quality products and services
to our customers, collaborating with suppliers to deliver
quality sustainable products and services and supporting our
community.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the top five customers together accounted for
approximately 17.09% of the Group’s revenue and the Group’s
largest customer accounted for approximately 4.28% of the
Group's revenue.

During the Year, the top five suppliers together accounted for
approximately 56.27% of the Group’s purchases and the Group's
largest supplier accounted for approximately 17.10% of the
Group's purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in these major customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Loh Swee Keong (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Deng Rongkai (appointed on 16 September 2019 and
vacated office on 25 November 2019)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Yau Ka Hei

Mr. Chu Kin Ming

Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert

By virtue of Article 108 of the articles of association of the
Company, Mr. Yau Ka Hei and Mr. Chu Kin Ming shall retire at
the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, shall offer themselves
for re-election at the said meeting.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

The Executive Director, namely Mr. Loh Swee Keong has entered
into a service or an appointment contract with the Company
for a fixed term of three years, which may be terminated by not
less than three months’ written notice served by either party on
the other, and is subject to termination provisions therein and
provisions on retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in
Articles.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered
into a service contract or an appointment letter with the
Company for a fixed term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s written notice served
by either party on the other, and is subject to termination
provisions therein and provisions on retirement by rotation of
Directors as set out in Articles.

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service
contract or an appointment letter which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographies details of Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 20 to 24.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS' REMUNERATION
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individual's remuneration are set out in notes 6 and 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year and at any time
during the year ended 31 May 2020.

INTERESTS OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
IN CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered during the
year ended 31 May 2020 between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders or any its
subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 May 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year ended 31
May 2020.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Loh Swee Keong and
the company through which he holds equity interests in the
Company, namely Merchant World Investments Limited, have
entered into a Deed of Non-Competition with the Company on
27 June 2017. The details of the Deed of Non-Competition have
been disclosed in the Prospectus.

The controlling shareholders have confirmed with the Company
that they had complied with the non-competition undertakings
during the year ended 31 May 2020. The Directors (including
the Independent Non-executive Directors) have reviewed and
confirmed the compliance with the non-competition undertaking
by the controlling shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as of the
date of this report, there is sufficient public float or not less than
25% of the Shares are in the hands of the public as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPETING BUSINESS OF DIRECTORS AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 May 2020, none of the Directors, nor the controlling
shareholders of the Company and any of their respective close
associates has any interest in a business which competes or
likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As notified by Ever-Long Securities Company Limited (“Ever-
Long"), compliance adviser of the Company, except for the
compliance adviser agreement entered into between the
Company and Ever-Long dated 17 April 2019, neither Ever-Long
nor any of its close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) and none of the directors or employees of Ever-Long
had any interest in the share capital of our Company or any
member of our Group (including options or rights to subscribe
for such securities, if any) which is required to be notified to our
Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules as of
31 May 2020.
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DIRECTORS’' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 May 2020, the interests and short position of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO (i) as required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interest and/or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (i)
as required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Sections 352 of the SFO, or (iii)
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the required standard of dealings by directors of
listed issuers as referred to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules
were as follows:

ordinary Shares of the Company

Capacity/
Nature of Interest

51/ EEHE

Mr. Loh Swee Keong (Note 2)

Loh Swee Keong %4 (Hi#2) A E

Notes:

(1) The letter (L) denotes the person’s long interest in the Shares.

(2)  Merchant World Investments Limited is a company incorporated
in the BVI and is wholly-owned by Mr. Loh Swee Keong. Mr. Loh

Swee Keong is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Merchant World Investments Limited for the purpose of the SFO.
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Save for disclosed above, as at 31 May 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short position in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO (i) as required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and/or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provision of the SFO), or (ii) as required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of
dealings by Directors of the Company as referred to in Rule 5.46
of the GEM Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

As at 31 May 2020, the following persons (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed of the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 and SFO were as follows:
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ORDINARY SHARES OF THE COMPANY AN

Merchant World Investments Limited

Ms. Woon Sow Sum (Note 2)
Woon Sow Sum %+ (#f#2)

Greater Elite Holdings Limited (Note 3)
Greater Elite Holdings Limited (#7:#3)

Mr. Law Fung Yuen Paul (Note 3)
BEREE (H323)

Ms. Cheng Lai Wah Christina (Note 4)
BEELL (Hatd)

Mr. Fung Tak, Andrew (Note 5)
IERAE (H3E5)

Mr. Fung Hong, Albert (Note 6)
BEREHE (Hit6)

Mr. Ho Ivan Siu-Hin
kEE T E

Ms. Lo Pui Chu, Amy (Note 7)
EmM¥xz+ (Mt7)

Ms. Cho Ka Lai (Note 8)
rEBIt (hizs)

Capacity/Nature
of Interest

51/ BEHE

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Interest of spouse
foiB s

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Interest in controlled corporation
YA E S

Interest of spouse
foiB s

Beneficial owner and joint interest
Ema ARERER

Beneficial owner and joint interest
Ema ARERER

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Interest of spouse
fliB s

Interest of spouse
fliB s
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Notes:

—

)

Save

The letter (L) denotes the person'’s long interest in the Shares.

Ms. Woon Sow Sum is the spouse of Mr. Loh Swee Keong and is
deemed, or taken to be interested in all Shares in which Mr. Loh
Swee Keong has interest under the SFO.

Greater Elite Holdings Limited is a company incorporated in the
BVI and is wholly-owned by Mr. Law Fung Yuen Paul. Mr. Law Fung
Yuen Paul is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Greater Elite Holdings Limited for the purpose of the SFO.

Ms. Cheng Lai Wah Christina is the spouse of Mr. Law Fung Yuen
Paul and is deemed, or taken to be interested in all Shares in
which Mr. Law Fung Yuen Paul has interest under the SFO.

Mr. Fung Tak, Andrew is interested in 4,136,000 shares and
interested in 59,960,000 shares jointly with Mr. Fung Hong, Albert.

Mr. Fung Hong, Albert is interested in 1,856,000 shares and
interested in 59,960,000 shares jointly with Mr. Fung Tak, Andrew.

Ms. Lo Pui Chu, Amy is the spouse of Mr. Fung Tak, Andrew and
is deemed, or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr,
Fung Tak, Andrew has interest under the SFO.

Ms. Cho Ka Lai is the spouse of Mr. Fung Hong, Albert and is

deemed, or taken to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr.
Fung Hong, Albert has interest under the SFO.

for disclosed above, as at 31 May 2020, the Company has

not been notified by any person (other than the Directors or
the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under provisions of Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336
of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full time and part time), or any member of the
Group, including any Executive, Non-executive Directors and
Independent Non-executive Directors, advisors, consultants of
the Group.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 27 June
2017 whereby the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion
and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, to grant
options to the Eligible Participants to subscribe for the shares
of the Company. The Share Option Scheme will be valid and
effective for a period of ten years from the date of the adoption
of the Scheme.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue upon the
date of the shares of the Company listed on the GEM, being
62,000,000 shares (or such numbers of shares as shall result
from a subdivision or a consolidation of such 62,000,000 from
time to time) (the “Scheme Limit"). Subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting, the Board may (i) renew this limit
at any time to 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of the
approval by the shareholders in a general meeting; and/or (ii)
grant options beyond the Scheme Limit to Eligible Participants
specifically identified by the Board.

As set out in the section headed “The Issue of New Shares under
General Mandate”, the Company has issued 68,200,000 shares
during the year, hence the total number of shares in respect of
which options may be granted is 62,000,000 shares, representing
9.01% of the total number of shares of the Company as at the
date of this report.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time. No options shall be granted under any
schemes of the Company (including the Share Option Scheme) if
this will result in the limit being exceeded.
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The total number of shares issuable upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company to each Participants in
any twelve months period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue. Any further grant of options is subject to shareholders’
approval in general meeting with such Eligible Participants and
his associates abstaining from voting.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date
of grant to the provisions of early termination thereof.

An offer for the grant must be accepted within seven days
inclusive of the day on which such offer was made. The
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on
acceptance of the offer for the grant of an options is HKD1.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the participants may
subscribe for the shares of the Company on exercise of an
option at the price determined by the Board provided that it shall
be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date
of grant, which must be a business day, (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
share.

As at 31 May 2020, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31
May 2020 was the Company, its or any of its holding companies
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable
the Directors and the Chief Executives (including their spouses
and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short
positions in the shares, or underlying shares, or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO).

THE ISSUE OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

Details of the Company’s shares issued during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and note
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 May 2020, there are no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the
Company (as defined under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules) which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. Details of the
significant related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of these related party transactions
constitute a connected transaction or a continuing connected
transaction, which needs to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLAN

Details of the retirement benefits plan of the Group as at 31
May 2020 are set out in the note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association
(“Articles of Association”) of the Company, the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in
the execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has
arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme are set out above, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked arrangement
during the Year.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Company recognised its responsibility to protect the
environment from its business activities. The Company is
committed to the sustainable development of the environment
and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply with
laws and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our
business meet the required standards and ethics in respect of
environmental protection.
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DONATION
During the Year, the Group had made charitable and other
donation for approximately RM11,473 (2019: RM20,774).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
Independent Non-executive Directors were independent during
their tenure during the Year.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
2020 AGM to be held on Wednesday, 25 November 2020, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday,
20 November 2020 to Wednesday, 25 November 2020, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will
be effected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
2020 AGM or any adjournment thereof, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investors Services Limited at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 19 November
2020.
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AUDITORS

There was no change in auditor since the Listing Date except
that with effect from 29 May 2020, Deloitte PIt (LLPO010145-
LCA) resigned as auditor of the Company on the ground that it
could not reach a mutual consensus with the Company on the
audit fees for financial year ended 31 May 2020. Crowe (HK) CPA
Limited (“Crowe”) has been appointed as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 1 June 2020 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Deloitte PIt and to hold office until
the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2020 have
been audited by Crowe who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Crowe as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

SK Target Group Limited
Loh Swee Keong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 August 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and the senior management of the Group is
committed to achieve a high standard of corporate governance,
to formulate good corporate governance practices for improving
the accountability and transparency in operations, and to
strengthen the internal control and risk management systems
from time to time so as to protect the rights of the shareholders
and enhance shareholder value. The Directors consider that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is crucial
for effective management, successful business growth and a
healthy corporate culture which in return benefits the Group’s
stakeholders as a whole.

The Board has adopted and save as disclosed in the following
paragraph complied with the principles and code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code") as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors
will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements from time to time, and to meet the rising
expectation of shareholders and other stakeholders of the
Group.

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established.

Mr. Loh is the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company. In view of Mr. Loh has been operating
and managing the operating subsidiaries of the Group since
1993, the Board believes that it is in the best interest of the
Group to have Mr. Loh taking up both roles for effective
management and business development. Therefore, the
Directors consider that the deviation from the CG Code provision
A.2.1is appropriate in such circumstance.

Save as disclosed above, during the year in the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has complied with the code provision of the
CG Code.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules
5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also
made specific enquiry of all the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards
of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors for the year ended 31 May 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises four Directors, including one
Executive Director, namely Mr. Loh Swee Keong and three
Independent Non-executive Directors who are Mr. Yau Ka Hei,
Mr. Chu Kin Ming and Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert.

Mr. Loh Swee Keong is the chairman (the “Chairman”) of the
Board.

OVERALL ACCOUNTABILITY

The Board is committed to providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Board is accountable to the
Shareholders and in discharging its corporate accountability. The
Directors, individually and collectively, must act in good faith
and in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders
and fulfill his fiduciary duties by applying the required level of
skills, care and diligence to a standard in accordance with the
statutory requirements. The Board has the full support from
the Directors and the senior management of the Company to
discharge its responsibilities.

The biographical details of the Directors and other senior
management are set out in the section headed with “Directors
and Senior Management Profiles” of this report.
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for formulating the Group’s policies
and business plans, and monitoring internal controls and
performances. The overall management of the Company’s
business is vested in the Board which assumes the responsibility
for promoting the success of the Company by supervising its
affairs. The Board focuses on formulating the Group’s overall
strategies, approving the annual development plan and budget;
monitoring financial and operating performance; reviewing the
effectiveness of the internal control system and supervising the
management’s performance. Regarding the Group’s corporate
governance, the Board is responsible for performing following
duties:

(@) determine and review the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

(b) review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management; and

(c) review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e) toreview the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman of
the Board and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Loh is the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. In
view of Mr. Loh has been operating and managing the operating
subsidiaries of the Group since 1993, the Board believes that
it is in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Loh taking up
both roles for effective management and business development.
Therefore, the Directors consider that the deviation from the CG
Code provision A.2.1 is appropriate in such circumstance.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and setting out the approach to achieve
and maintain diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks to
achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a number
of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and industry and regional experience. The ultimate
decision will be based on the merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

To meet the objectives of the Group’s Board Diversity Policy,
the Board consists of members with expertise in the precast
concrete junction box industry, accounting, internal control,
corporate finance and administration.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD BEEEEK
The Board delegates to the Management in respect of the major ZEEERREREERE N METENGISEE
corporate matters as stated below:

1. preparation of annual, interim and quarterly results of the 1. HFEBHEESHEIAEBFEE - P
Group to be approved by the Board. R EFEHEE

2. execution of the corporate strategies and directions of the 2. HITKREBEGWMN 2 AEEDEFRE R
Group adopted by the Board; T

3. implementation of sufficient systems of internal controls 3. EEREZAEEABEILHIE KA
and risk management procedures of the Group; and ERERER &

4. carrying out daily business operations and decision- 4. HITHEEBKEE ULRAEBE 2B

makings of the Group, etc. BEBIELRES -
BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND EE28E  REAERER
PROCEDURES
The Board meets regularly and, in addition to regular meetings, ZZ&THAMEH MEHIE  HIEAR
it meets as and when warranted by particular circumstances. HrREAFZEREHREE -

During the year, 10 Board meetings have been held for the FR  TEEE 8T 710X &3 At it
discussion and approval of important matters such as the AEEEH¥4E  PHEE  2FEENRESE
approval of quarterly results, interim results, annual results and Z2EHE - SEEFENHEEET S ENLHT
dividends, etc. The attendance record of each Director during ' :

the year at Board meetings is as follows:

Number of
Attendance
Attended/
Eligible to
Attend
HE EE®
Name of Director R B
Executive Directors ITES
Mr. Loh Swee Keong Loh Swee Keong%t & 10/10
Mr. Deng Rongkai (appointed on 16 September — EREEE\ 4 (R2019F9H 16 HEE LK
2019 and vacated office on 25 November 2019) 2019411525 H BHE) 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Yau Ka Hei BRIEHEE 10/10
Mr. Chu Kin Ming N R 10/10
Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert SHEBEAE 10/10
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The Directors do not have any relationship (Including financial,
business, family or other material relationships) between
themselves.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Group has not established a corporate governance
committee and thus the Board is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in CG Code D.3.1 such
as reviewing and determining the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group, developing the Group's
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors and senior
management, the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements.

The Board held meetings from time to time whenever necessary.
To enable all the Directors to participate in the meetings, the
Company ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at the Board meetings and receive adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner. Notice
of regular Board meetings is given to all Directors and they
can include matters for discussion in the agenda as they think
fit. Draft minutes of Board meeting shall be circulated to all
Directors for comments prior to confirmation of the minutes.
The signed minutes are kept by the Company Secretary. Every
Board member has full access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. They are also entitled to have full access to Board
documents and related materials so that they are able to make
an informed decision.

Pursuant to article 108 (a) of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Yau Ka Hei and Mr. Chu Kin Ming shall retire
at the 2020 AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.
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The biographical details of above mentioned Directors proposed
to be re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting are
set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management
Profiles” on pages 21 to 22 of this annual report.

Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Articles. Each Independent Non-executive
Directors is required to inform the Group as soon as practicable
if there is any change that may affect his/her independence.
The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independency
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company
considers these Independent Non-executive Directors to be
independent.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To ensure the Directors’ contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant, the Directors are encouraged to
participate in professional development courses and seminars
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills relating to the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company.
During the year ended 31 May 2020, the current Board members
participated in the following training programs:

Name of Directors

iR EERRRAFAS FHRETNE
EERFBHNATRENENE[EER
BREEEEN] —& -

BUERITES IR EMHERT - AR
BRI R (AR T R EIEET o (0B IR(EAR ] B
SEEBMNES  SEULIENTESER
PIERITER TRIRBAAER - NARIER
Z%Xﬁiiﬁﬂﬁ§$$ﬁTFGEMtﬁiﬁH'J%S09
BEEINFEBELMEERE  BARERE
LW IEPTESIBELAL ©

HEERRRE
RERES—EHEAREEEARIAMEN
BERTHESRFELER  ARRSBERS
REXRRVERFNE - WEERBRES
BRLTARNEENAG B RBEZ MR
KeiiBe - BE20205A3THIEFE - HEE
EEREELETIIEIIES -

Training on

corporate governance,
regulatory updates

on disclosable
transactions

and connected
transactions
BRELEER -
REEHFETHERER
BER S E

Executive Director ITES

Loh Swee Keong Loh Swee Keong Vv
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES

Chu Kin Ming KA Vv
Yau Ka Hei BRE v
Ma She Shing Albert E#E8 v
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely the
audit committee (the "Audit Committee”), the remuneration
committee (the "Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). The
terms of reference of the Board’s committee are posted on the
Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange and
are available to shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 27 June 2017
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 of the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Yau Ka Hei, Mr. Chu Kin
Ming and Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Chu Kin Ming.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for the followings:

(@) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor, and be
primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration
and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and any
questions of its resignation or dismissal,

(b) to review with the Group’s management, external auditors
and internal auditor, the adequacy of the Group’s policies
and system regarding internal controls (including financial,
operational and compliance controls), risk management
system and any statement by the Directors of the Company
to be included in the annual accounts prior to endorsement
by the Board;

ExgZ8e
EXERCORU-AESEELEE  HHAER
ZEg ([FRZEE]])) FHEZES ([FH
Z8g)) kRAZES ((REERE)) - &
ZEZBEeNBREERN AR R R MR
ABUATIE - WHNARRER I RS A ER] -

BEREE®
REBOHR2017E6A27AR L EREZES
I 38 BRGEM L 1 #7 A 585.28 2 5.331& R GEM &
MRAT S+ AENEEEATIREEE
AMEECIE  HIEEEEBEARE -

BERZREGRAMA=-RBIFNTESENX
B RERE - RRAXERFTHELE - &F
BREETFERARBALE

(@) PFEEARFRINEZEEZETRRE
BEEEMEZENBER: REX2E8
SONERBE 2 RIE  EMERERER
MEFSRMER - RHEINSZEED
ZEN R B AR REEIBEMNA B
AN BHE R BHR 2R B A0 2 R

() REZS%ERN BAKEEEE - I
HEAZ BT B ) B A% B A v AR SR B B R
NERE IR R K R ot (RIEMTE - 25&
REMER)  BREERGARARF]
EERFEREAFEHNEMNZHES
D
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(c) to review and monitor the integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and the annual, quarterly and interim
financial reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them prior to approval
by the Board, with particular focus on:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

any changes in accounting policies and practices;

major judgmental areas;

significant adjustment resulting from the audit/review;

the going concern assumption and any qualifications;

compliance with the accounting and auditing
standards; and

compliance with the listing requirements on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
legal requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(d) Oversee the issuer’s financial reporting system, the risk
management and the internal control systems;

(i)

(i)

50

to review the Company’s financial controls, and
unless expressly addressed by a separate board
risk committee, or by the board itself, to review the
Company’s risk management and internal control
systems;

to review arrangements employees of the Group can
use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control
or other matters. The Committee should ensure
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for
appropriate follow-up action;
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(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

to review the draft representation letter prior to
approval by the Board;

to discuss the risk management and internal
control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have an
effective system. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the
issuer’s accounting and financial reporting function;
and

to consider major investigation findings on risk
management and internal control matters as
delegated by the board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings.

to assess the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control.

For the year ended 31 May 2020, 5 meetings have been held
for the Audit Committee and all the members of the Committee
attended the meetings. The unaudited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the period ended 31 August
2019, 30 November 2019 and 29 February 2020; and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 May 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

i
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 27
June 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1
of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules. As at
the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consists
of one Executive Director, namely Mr. Loh Swee Keong and
two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yau Ka
Hei and Mr. Chu Kin Ming. The chairman of the Remuneration
committee is Mr. Yau Ka Hei.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for the
followings:

(@) to consult the chairman of the Board and/or the chief
executive of the Company (where applicable) about their
remuneration proposals for other Executive Directors.
The Committee should have access to independent
professional advice if necessary;,

(b) review and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’'s corporate goals
and objectives;

(c) either (i) determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors
and senior management of the Company; or (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management of the Company. This should include benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment;
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make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company;

consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Company and its subsidiaries;
and

review and approve compensation payable to the Executive
Directors and senior management of the Company for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure that
it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive.

For the year ended 31 May 2020, two meetings have been
held for the Remuneration Committee and all the members
of the Committee attended the meetings to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy and
the remuneration packages of the Directors.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the
remuneration of the senior management (other than Directors)
by bands for the year ended 31 May 2020 are as follows:

Nil to HKD1,000,000

d) BARBIFRTESTREIUIFATES
MFMAES SR L EE

@) ZERFRERRHFHH - AN A
FAMBENRARRREMBARNE
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The Group determines an Director's emolument based on each
Director’'s qualifications, experience and capability and the
prevailing market remuneration rate.

The emolument payable to Directors depends on their respective
contractual terms under the service contracts and the
appointment letters, and as recommended by the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ emolument are set out in
note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees required to be disclosed under Rule
18.300f the GEM Listing Rules have been set out in notes 6 and
7 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established the Nomination Committee on 27
June 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A.5 of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee currently consists of
one Executive Director, namely Mr. Loh Swee Keong and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yau Ka Hei
and Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is Mr. Loh Swee Keong.

The main roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include the followings:

(@) review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy;

(b) identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

o4

SK TARGET GROUP LIMITED / Annual Report 2020

AEEZBEESTNER  CREENURE
ANmEHMKFEEREFNGT -

ENEEHER T RESENRBAORERE
K PTE A RERTE - XAREHMER S
B ES - EFMEFBENRAMBRE
BaEs

RIBEGEM LM R A F 180K A T REAME
EME AN REHEENE - THBERE
B BMRMEEORT

REZE®
RRARER2017FE6A27TAR I IREEE S -
WERGEM LA AP T+ R ATE MBS
FRAIRPEERMEFALSE - fIC L EEB
HEHE  RAREZECRRBPRE—RRITES
BlLoh Swee Keongst £ MM BB IERNITE
FBREEERGEFELEE - REZEE
FE ALoh Swee KeongZt 4 -

REZEENIEACKBEBENATRE

@ BFEI-ARABRITEFTGOHRE - AH
NAK (BFEieE - MBENER) AW
EZeRBEMRBESR  UEAAR
AlH) R RAE

b) VEAEMKREFETNENEEA
& WYHEANTEMRERETESH
BHNERESSREES



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREREE

(c) assess the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors of the Company;

(d) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors of the Company and
succession planning for Directors of the Company,
in particular the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company; and

(e) have a policy concerning diversity of Board members,
review the policy and the progress on achieving the
objectives set for implementing the policy and should
disclose the policy or a summary of the policy in the
corporate governance report annually.

For the year ended 31 May 2020, two meetings have been held
for the Nomination Committee and all the members of the
Committee attended the meetings to review the independence
of the Independent Non-executive Directors, the structure, size
and Composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy
adopted by the Company.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) for the Nomination Committee to
identify candidates to become a member of the Board and
to make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
candidates nominated for directorships. The Board shall be
composed of members with balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to accomplish the Group's
business development, strategies, operation, challenges and
opportunities. The core criteria for selection include gender, age,
cultural and education background, professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and industry and regional experience, number
of directorship in other listed/public companies and in case of
Independent Non-executive Directors, the number of years they
have already served. According to the nomination procedure,
the Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying potential
new Directors and recommends to the Board for decision. The
appointment shall be subject to the approval by the Board in
accordance with the Articles of Association, the GEM Listing
Rules and the Nomination Policy.
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2019 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 2019FERRBEXRE

Pursuant to the code provision A.6.7 of the CG code, the IRIEBDEEATAITAIEXEAS7E B IE
Independent Non-executive Directors should attend general #ifT=FREERREASTHBRENZEIEL
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the visions IEBEfZ o 2019411 A25H £8 17 8920194 A%
of shareholders. At the 2019 annual general meeting held on 25 FEFEAE L FIAEBYIENTEETHCLE
November 2019, all the Independent Non-executive Directors K& -

attended the meeting.

For the year ended 31 May 2020, the attendance record of each  # E2020F5A31B IEFE @ KFEENHERL
Director is set out in the table below: BREA TR

Number of attendance/number of meetings

Name of Directors for the year ended 31 May 2020
Esps HZ202055A31HLEEMHER/ERRY
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee = Committee  Committee General
meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting

Exg ERZEE FMzEE REZEE
=E 83 =6 23 RRAE

Executive Directors

YTES
Mr. Loh Swee Keong 10/10 N/A 2/2 2/2 11
Loh Swee Keong % & TER
Mr. Deng Rongkai (appointed on 16 September 2019

and vacated office on 25 November 2019) 0N N/A N/A N/A 0N
Baglkd (R2019F9A16BRZ IR

R2019511 A25 B EHE) A @A TER

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Yau Ka Hei 10/10 5/5 2/2 212 11
BRERE

Mr. Chu Kin Ming 10/10 5/5 2/2 N/A 7
KEBLE i

Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert 10/10 5/5 N/A 2/2 11
BHEEE NEH
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for each financial
year which give a true and fair view of the Group’s state of
affairs, results and cash flows and in accordance with the
relevant accounting standards and principles and the disclosure
requirements under applicable laws and regulations in Hong
Kong.

The responsibility of the external auditor is to form an
independent opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated
financial statements prepared by the Board and to report their
opinion to the shareholders of the Company. The statements
by the external Auditor, Crowe (HK) CPA Limited, about their
reporting responsibility on the financial statements of the Group
are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 64 to
70 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board is responsible for maintaining effective internal
control and risk management systems and for monitoring their
effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the
assets of the Group. The internal control system of the Group
aims to facilitate efficient operation which in turn reduces the
risks to which the Group is exposed. The internal control and
risk management systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in the
Group’s operational systems and in the achievement of the
Group's business objectives.
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The Group recognises that effective risk management is essential
for the long-term development on the Group’s business. The
management is responsible for establishing, implementing
and reviewing the sound and effective internal control system
underpinning the risk management framework. The Audit
Committee will periodically review the Group’s compliance
status with the Hong Kong laws and will perform its functions
by (i) reviewing the internal control and legal compliance; (ii)
discussing the internal control systems with the management
of the Group to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to have an effective internal control system and (iii)
considering the major investigation findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or its own initiative and the
management'’s response to these findings. While taking into full
account of the new requirements effective from the Listing Date
under the GEM Listing Rules brought by Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited relating to risk management and internal
control, the management has formulated the risk management
and control framework. All employees are committed to
implement the risk management framework into the daily
operation.

In addition, there is no internal audit function within the
Group and the Group engaged an independent internal
control consultant (“Internal Control Consultant”) to
conduct an annual review for the year ended 31 May 2020
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems in various material aspects including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Based upon
the recommendations from the Internal Control Consultant,
the Group has taken remedial actions. Further, in order to
continuously improve the Group’s corporate governance in the
future the Group will adopt the measures recommended by the
Internal Control Consultant.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, it is
considered that proper internal control and risk management
systems are in place and implemented effectively.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 May 2020, the remuneration paid or
payable to Crowe (HK) CPA Limited in respect of the statutory
audit services and non-audit services for the Group are as
follows:

Nature of Services

R MHE

Audit services
Non-audit services

B RS
FFEZIRT

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy that aims to
provide guidelines for the Board to determine whether dividends
are to be declared and paid to the shareholders and the level of
dividend to be paid.

Under the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose a
dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board
shall take into account, among others,

financial results;

J cash flow situation;

o business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;
J interests of shareholders;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends, and

o any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

BEE N &

B E2020F5 AN B L FE - AEEREER
ZRG MIFEZRBENHENEEEE (B
) SEEEBMARATNMESMT

Fee paid/
payables
B FEft

HEA
HKD000
FET

810

IR B BUR

ARRERA—ERERR  EEREFEME
ER A MRREIR RN IRB RS T AR
BACEREHIES] -

B ER S B
TR 8 SRR
T8 -

ERER R AR AR
EFGRER (HFRE) MU
o B

. BEREKR:

o EBHORRIERE

o RIBEREF

o ASTEREIHE

o REEMEN

o ORNBBZEMERS R

s EFXgRRA/MBEZEFNEMER-

W EMAR AT / 2020 F 3 59



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
& REREE

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company shall
remain to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board
and is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies
Law of the Cayman lIslands, the GEM Listing Rules, the laws of
Hong Kong and the Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of
Association and any other applicable laws and regulations. The
Company does not have any predetermined dividend distribution
ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the past
may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Company in
the future.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update,
amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and
the Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Tze Wai was appointed as the Company Secretary of
the Company on 1 November 2018. All Directors have access to
the Company Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. Mr. Leung
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
for the year ended 31 May 2020. The biographical details of
Mr. Leung are set out under the section headed "Directors and
Senior Management Profile” on pages 23 of this annual report.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and
rights, separate resolutions can be proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including the election
of individual Directors, for shareholders’ consideration and
voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meeting
will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and
the poll voting results will be posted on the website of The
Stock Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant
shareholders’ meeting.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meetings (“EGM")

The Company believes that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The following procedures for shareholders to
convene an extraordinary general meeting are subject to the
Articles (as amended from time to time), and the applicable
legislation and regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules (as
amended from time to time):

(@)

(€

EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition (the "Requisition”), not less than one tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of
voting at general meetings (the “Eligible Shareholders”).
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two Months after the
deposit of such requisition;

The Eligible Shareholders must deposit the Requisition to
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong at Room 1406-08, 14/F, Austin Tower, 22-26 Austin
Avenue, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or to Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Board and/or the Company Secretary;

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information are
posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with
any enquiries.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands for shareholders to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders who wish
to move a resolution may request the Company to convene a
general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in
the preceding paragraph.

Procedures for raising enquiries

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the
Directors and management of the Company. Such questions,
requests, comments and suggestions can be addressed to the
Company by post to Room 1406-08, 14/F, Austin Tower, 22-
26 Austin Avenue, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or via
telephone at (852) 3702 5315.

Should there are any enquiries and concerns from shareholders,
they may direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Investors Limited, by post to Level 54, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong or via telephone at (852)
2980 1333.Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions
together with their detailed contact information for the prompt
response from the Company if it deems appropriate.
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INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders communication
policy between itself and its shareholders, and investors which
aims to set out the principles of the Company in relation to the
shareholders’ communications, with the objective of ensuring
timely, transparent and accurate communications between the
shareholders of the Company and the Company. These include
answering questions through the annual general meeting, the
publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices,
announcements and circulars, the Company’'s website at
www.targetprecast.com and meetings with investors and
shareholders. News update of the Group’s business development
and operation are also available on the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report,
there has been no changes in the Company’s Constitutional
documents. A copy of the Company’s updated Constitutional
Documents is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. Directors, senior management and employees of the
Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are subject to dealing restrictions in securities
of the Company pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules. Any
inside information and any information which may potentially
constitute inside information is promptly identified, assessed
and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on the
need for disclosure. Inside information and other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules will be announced on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Crowe

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF SK TARGET GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
SK TARGET GROUP LIMITED (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on
pages 71 to 175, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 May 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 May 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matter are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
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BB RE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

BEREZEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

5 B WRRREE

We identified the impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates
in evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL")
of the Group's trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.
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o BMSEZREBSRERENGEN AEREZS
g o

As at 31 May 2020, the Group's net trade receivables
is RM7.99 million, which represented approximately
17% of total assets of the Group and out of those
trade receivables of approximately RM4.54 million
were past due.
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As disclosed in note 27(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, the management of the Group
estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade
receivables based on estimated loss rate, which is
determined based on the management’s assessment
on the individual customer’s credit risk grading
dependent on the individual customer’s financial
performance, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, and any forward-looking information
without undue cost or effort, including time value of
money where appropriate.
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As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group's lifetime ECL on
trade receivables as at 31 May 2020 amounted to
approximately RM870,000.
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BEMNELNAEEBREREE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of trade receivables included:
HMEHEE S REREIBERETEMEFEE

. Understanding key controls on how the
management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables;

o THREEEME S RNFIABERE 2 BREER
HHE

3 Challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowances on trade
receivables as at 31 May 2020, including their
identification of credit impaired trade receivables,
and the basis of estimated loss rate such as
customers’ credit risk grading dependent on the
customers’ financial performance, historical loss
rates and forward-looking information;
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. Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables in
notes 18 and 27(b) to the consolidated financial
statements; and

o AR A M RARM 18 R27(0)P BEE 5 B EK
BREFTEOMEE 0 &

. Testing subsequent settlements of credit-
impaired trade receivables, on a sample basis, by
inspecting supporting documents in relation to
cash receipt from trade receivables subsequent
to the end of the current reporting period.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITORS’ REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements of the Group represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

25 August 2020

Alvin Yeung Sik Hung
Practisting Certificate Number P05206
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REBRERAEtEE RS X

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2020
HZE 20205 5 A 31 HILFE

2020
20204

RM’000

A4
==

Revenue A 5 23,012 29,451
Cost of sales HER A (16,330) (21,859)
Gross profit ER 6,682 7,592
Other income H A 945 379
Administrative expenses THRX (10,361) (8,737)
Selling and distribution expenses HE LD X (1,007) (1,125)
Finance costs BB R A 8 (225) (14)
Loss before taxation FRELRIEE 9 (3,966) (1,905)
Taxation Ia 10 (462) (744)
Loss for the year FANEE (4,428) (2,649
Other comprehensive loss item that HigngeEmoasiE

may be reclassified subsequently to wmEEMEEEIEIE

profit or l0ss: B
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINERELNE

translation of foreign operations HZERE 391
Total comprehensive loss for the year EAREEEIBAE (2,258)
Loss per share: &S
Basic (RM cent) R (h=2H) 11 (0.43)
The notes on pages 78 to 175 form an integral part of these 78E175E MBI S A MEHREAR — &6

consolidated financial statements.

e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mEMBRREK

AS AT 31 MAY 2020
720204 5 A 31 H

Notes
gz

Non-Current Assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment VI - S RS 13
Investment property "B 15
Right-of-use assets TREEE 14
Equity investment IR & 16
Deferred tax assets BIETRIB A E 23
Total Non-Current Assets FRBEELE
Current Assets RENEE
Inventories FE 17
Receivables, deposits and prepayments FEURIE - 24 & 18

TER R
Amount owing from ultimate holding  FESKIERATIZIE 19

company

Amount owing from a shareholder JE U5 A% 3R SR IR 19
Tax recoverable AT E R IR
Short-term bank deposits EHISRITIE X 20
Cash on hand and at bank FHEMIRITRE 20
Total Current Assets RENEELE
current Liabilities REEE
Payables and accrued charges FERTRIB R ERTE A 21
Lease liabilities HEBaE 22

Total Current Liabilities FRBEEAE
Net Current Assets BREBEE
Total Assets Less Current HWEERRBEE

Liabilities
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2020
20205
RM’000

A4
<IT=

17

13
205
10,135
12,712

37,441

6,532
2,360

8,892

28,549

2019
20194
RM’000

A=
< B

4,854
381

74

5,309

1,780

13,501

527
6,034
14,909

36,767

6,361

6,361

30,406

35,715




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRK

AS AT 31 MAY 2020
20204 5 A 31 H

2020 2019
20205 20194

RM’000 RM'000

PN A
<A < B

Non-Current Liabilities FERBEE

Lease liabilities HEAE 22 -
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 23 281
Total Non-Current Liabilities FREBBERE 281
Net Assets BEE 35,434
Capital and Reserves BRAEREE

Share capital R AN 24 3,765 3,382
Reserves i 25 32,343 32,052
Total Equity RRAE 36,108 35,434

The consolidated financial statements on pages 71 to 175 were  ZHRE7/NEVSENGEVBHRERBESTTR
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 8 A25H#L /&I HETIE - WH TIEERE

25 August and are signed on its behalf by: BE
Loh Swee Keong Chu Kin Ming
KREHR
Director Independent Non-Executive Director
EF BUIENTEE

48

The notes on pages 78 to 175 form an integral part of these 78E175E M T F4rE MRz —I

AN

consolidated financial statements. ol
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERZEPH X

AS AT 31 MAY 2020
720204 5 A 31 H

Share Share Other Translation  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve profits

Bx  R6EE  HtRE EifFE  REEN
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

A+ A=+ A+ A=+ A=+
~ H < A Ea= ~H ~ H

Total
b
RM'000

A+
~ H

At 1 June 2018 RK2018%6A1H 3,382 19,891 8,579 (974) 6,814 37,692
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (2,649) (2,649)
Exchange differences BEBIEBELEN

arising on translation of ~ [E} =%

foreign operations - - - 39N - 391
Total comprehensive loss  FRA2 EFEEE

for the year - - - 391 (2,649) (2,258)
At 31 May 2019 R2019%5A31H 3,382 19,891 8,579 (583) 4,165 35,434
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZB I X

AS AT 31 MAY 2020
20204 5 A 31 H

Share Share Other Translation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve loss Total
R R RE Hitv it B R e 2FEE1E @it

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

4% TAE T4 Tem  TAE 4%

At 1 June 2019 R2019F6H18 3,382 19,891 8,579 35,434

Loss for the year ERER = = = (4,428)
Exchange differences BEBIEBEEN
arising on translation of ~ [EH 2%
foreign operations
Total comprehensive loss ER2EFBAE
for the year
Issue of subscription BRMERTBRRENT
shares by newly allotted 2B
ordinary shares

At 31 May 2020 R202045A318 8,579 (263) (263)

The notes on pages 78 to 175 form an integral part of these 78ZE175E MBI SR A M ERET N —I
consolidated financial statements. e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HRERETRER

AS AT 31 MAY 2020
720204 5 A 31 H

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of:
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Right-of-use assets
Bad debts written off
Allowance for credit losses
Allowance for credit losses no longer
required
Finance costs
Property, plant and equipment
written off
Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign
exchange

2020
20205
RM'000

A4
==

REES
BRI R
AT BIAELRE
ATEBEIFE :
E =SS
BREME
EREEE
SRR
EEEERE
BABHEEEBHERRE

(3,966)

BEMAA

REBIMNERRE (W)

Interest income eI A
Operating profit/(loss) before working — &iE & ¢ & BRI AL L
capital changes FE(EE)
Movements in working capital: EEECED)

(Increase)/Decrease in:

Inventories

Receivables, deposits and

prepayments
Decrease in:

Payables and accrued charges
Advance to a shareholder
Repayment from ultimate holding

Company

TFIRIE (i), E
FE
FEURIR ~ e RIB R

TISERD
N RAELEER
A — 2 BB ) B R

R A RIER

Net Cash Generated From
Operations
Income tax paid

ERFEH

Net Cash Generated From Operating
Activities

REBZHAERDFHR
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2019
20194
RM’'000

At
< B

(1,905)

869

10

27

(110)
14

13

(357)
(46)

(1,479)

(430)

6,479

(3,576)
(4)

990
(929)

61




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERETRER

AS AT 31 MAY 2020
20204 5 A 31 H

2020 2019
20205 20194
RM'000 RM’000

P A=
<A < B

INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETE
Interest received B F B 46
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE  BEREE

equipment (1,328)
Increase in pledged short-term bank EHIREHARITE R

deposits 0 (633)
Purchase of equity investment BAEREE -
Net Cash Used In Investing Activities — & 58T FRIRE F5E (1,915)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AR
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN P15 RIR -
Repayment to a director MEFEN (12)
Finance costs paid ETRVE AR (14)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENEE s EARTD -
Interest element of lease rentals paid  EfHEE 2N EEH -
Net Cash Generated From/(Used In) mEEBE (A Re

Financing Activities HEE (26)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE IN) RERREZEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B ORd) SR8 (1,880)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT F{HERRESZEEY

BEGINNING OF YEAR 21,075
Effects of exchange differences EHERENTE 714
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT £XEERREZEY

END OF YEAR (note 20) (Ha20) 19,909

The notes on pages 78 to 175 form an integral part of these 78E175AM BRI FHE M B RAH—H

aN

consolidated financial statements. e
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GENERAL INFORMATION

SK Target Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 28 October
2016 and its ordinary shares are listed on the GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 19 July
2017. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business are P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75
Fort Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands
and 18, Jalan LP 2A/2, Taman Lestari Perdana, 43300 Seri
Kembangan, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia, respectively.

Merchant World Investments Limited (“Merchant World”),
a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI"), is the immediate and ultimate holding company
of the Company. Mr. Loh Swee Keong, is the ultimate
controlling party of the Company who wholly owns
Merchant World.

The Company is an investment holding company and
the principal activities of the Group are manufacturing
and trading of precast concrete junction boxes, trading
of accessories and pipes and provision of mobile crane
rental and ancillary services in Malaysia, Japanese catering
services and sourcing service of materials in Hong Kong.
The principal activities and other particulars of the
subsidiary companies are set out in note 31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

—R&EHR

mEEBAER AR ([AAF]) 72016
FI0OABERHASHEIMAIAB
AR BEE@ERKRE 8201767719
ARREBE SR S5MAERRARGEM
e dMMEREMIERESEE N
259 51AP.0. Box 1350, Clifton House
75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands}18, Jalan LP
2A/2, Taman Lestari Perdana, 43300
Seri Kembangan, Selangor Darul Ehsan,
Malaysia ©

Merchant World Investments Limited
(Merchant World | - —REEER
HE ((RBELHEES)) M ZHER
NA) BARRBINEE RESLER AT
Loh Swee KeongitaE A7 AR &A% 4E
#1752 E#EAEMerchant World °

RARR—REEERAR - MAEE
MEBEKANERARNETEE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. AN RZEBITEBRTMBRE

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new
and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
issued by the IASB:

IFRS 16 Leases
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation
Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures
Annual Improvements to IFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle

Amendments to IFRSs

Except for IFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments
have had a material effect on how the Group's results and
financial position for the current and prior periods and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 16 “Leases”

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 “Leases”, and the related
interpretations, IFRIC 4 "Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease”, SIC 15 “Operating Leases
- Incentives”, and SIC 27 "Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions involving the Legal Form of a Lease”. It
introduces a single accounting model for lessees, which
requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset and a
lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”)
and leases of low-value assets. The lessor accounting
requirements brought forward from IAS 17 are substantially
unchanged.

IFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and
gquantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to assess the effect that
leases have on the financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of an entity.

2= A

2 EEVY GRS IR s SR ]
BEGRIOF T RICE TR - BT R
B

BB EREENE16% MAE

BB BEREREEEE MEHRECTHEE R

233

BRH SRS LR RABTEHRARE

(fB3TK)

BB e ERZ19% SHEIET - ERsUEE

(B3TA)

B a4 8285, REEARIRAELEN

(fB3T%) REER

BB B RS A BORR B 5 2

CHES) 20155 £2017F B EH
EEWE

P BIRR B 75 S E RIS 165% - HESN
ZEFERTHASERE /T B TR
EERBBRRR, IZEEAMBR
RFFEHNRELBEEATE

BB REERFE 1655 [HE ]
BRI B R o B B R B R & 5
EF175 (RS ] RIAMRE  ERH
BRERBZEGREBESR (BT A
ZHEGREHE] FHRBZEES
SR EEHE-BE REBREE
BEBURFESREERRFAR
HZAR] - R RAEMASIAE—&5HE
BN ZEABREABMARAERE
BREAEEERBEARG  HHEHA
2B AR THAE (MERAR]) RIE
EEAERERI - RBEARTERR
EHAEEEIERE7H - EARE

B R B 75 ¥R 5 22 R 1655 I7 5| ARSI
THEREERBEENR  FERFHRE
EREFGHESTBY BN - M5
RENBRSRENTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 as from 1 June 2019.
The Group has elected to use the modified retrospective
approach and has therefore recognised the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening
balance of equity at 1 June 2019. Comparative information
has not been restated and continues to be reported under
IAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition options
applied are set out below:

(a) New definition of a lease

80

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates
to the concept of control. IFRS 16 defines a lease on
the basis of whether a customer controls the use of
an identified asset for a period of time, which may
be determined by a defined amount of use. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all the economic benefits from that use.

The Group applies the new definition of a lease in
IFRS 16 only to contracts that were entered into
or changed on or after 1 June 2019. For contracts
entered into before 1 June 2019, the Group has used
the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements
are or contain leases. Accordingly, contracts that
were previously assessed as leases under IAS 17
continue to be accounted for as leases under IFRS
16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for
as executory contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

STANDARDS (Continued)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

F& PR 3 5T R ASAE BT B R Bt 5 3 5
3 UNE D)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

IFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to
classify leases as either operating leases or finance
leases, as was previously required by IAS 17.
Instead, the Group is required to capitalise all leases
when it is the lessee, including leases previously
classified as operating leases under IAS 17, other
than those short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets which are exempted. As far as the Group
is concerned, these newly capitalised leases are
primarily in relation to property, plant and equipment
as disclosed in note 14. For an explanation of how
the Group applies lessee accounting, see note 3(j).

At the date of transition to IFRS 16 (i.e. 1 June 2019),
the Group determined the length of the remaining
lease terms and measured the lease liabilities for the
leases previously classified as operating leases at
the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing
rates at 1 June 2019.

The weighted average of the incremental borrowing
rate used for determination of the present value of
the remaining lease payments was 4.55%.

To ease the transition to IFRS 16, the Group applied
the following recognition exemption and practical
expedients at the date of initial application of IFRS 16:

(i)  the Group elected not to apply the requirements
of IFRS 16 in respect of the recognition of lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets to leases for
which the remaining lease term ends within 12
months from the date of initial application of
IFRS 16, i.e. where the lease term ends on or
before 31 May 2020;

BB RS ERE 1655 [HE

(&)

(b) FEASTHERBERBESE
A% B 5 e o A B S 168 UK T 4
B 5 B 55179 55 B T B
ARABEENEAEETEELR
ARENRT - AR - AEE AR
BAR - BENMCHMAHE B
SEATRIEER &HERB175 5 18
REEHENEE  RENHER
EEEEEBENERR - BA%
BfE  REHEALAEEER
MisE 14 BBNDE « BE RRE
B - A RS B A0 fal 8 PR AR
BRRIBHANE - BLMNE
30) °

A [ BB B 75 R 5 M B 2 1 65R 3R
A 8 (B12019F6 A1) » KN &
EEFSHBARRFSGEEN R
REFEL S EAKEHE L
E7HERE - WH2019F6H1H
P FAIARAIE B AR REITINR -

AREERNSKEENFTRENEE
FE TR 2 B R T 29 B 734.55% ©

AET RE MBI PR B 15 5 MR RISE 1655
BIE - AR E R 6 e A B ER B 1S
HEF 1652 AR AIA T R E
S NEREE 25

()  AEBEEEZEERBERYS
HEERIFE 165 B BHERF
#RTH B B Y46 e R BIRR B 75
WELRE165 H B+ =
18 A A 2 8 (BN # £20209F
5A31B SR 2 HE) 2
EvHERENEREEE
ZRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact
(Continued)

82

(in

(i)

when measuring the lease liabilities at the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, the Group
applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics
(such as leases with a similar remaining lease
term for a similar class of underlying asset in a
similar economic environment);

when measuring the right-of-use assets at the
date of initial application of IFRS 16, the Group
relied on the previous assessment for onerous
contract provisions as at 31 May 2019 as an
alternative to performing an impairment review;
and

use hindsight based on facts and circumstances
at the date of initial application of IFRS 16 in
determining the lease term for the Group's
leases with extension and termination options.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. EAFIERKEBITERIHBRE

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 8 (&)
STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) BB RS ERISE165% [ FHE ]
(&)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) FEABSHEERBES
(Continued) (&)

The following table reconciles the operating lease
commitments as disclosed in note 30 as at 31 May
2019 to the opening balance for lease liabilities
recognised as at 1 June 2019:

T H I MY FE30AT % BE 70201945
A31H Z KL HEAEERN20195F
6ATBERNBEERBERSGEL

Operating lease commitments at 31 May
2019
Less: commitments relating to leases

- short-term leases and other leases

before 31 May 2020 =

2019F5 A31H Z & & E A HE

B BEEREERN L2 HEZ
exempt from capitalisation: A

— FIT IR 202055 A31H
with remaining lease term ending on or ZBIEm 2 EEEE R A

Less: total future interest expenses

B RIEA B R AR

Total lease liabilities recognised at 1 June  H2019%E6 A 1R ERMAE A E

2019 FGEE]

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously
classified as operating leases have been recognised
at an amount equal to the amount recognised for the
remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by the amount of
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to
that lease recognised in the statement of financial
position at 31 May 2019.

There is no impact on the opening balance of equity.

e EAKEHRECHESRH
MERELEECRBEERFSEE
BERRHSEEEHNSERER -
I #% BR201945 A31 8 B ik &
NFERELZ T EMBEM EATE 3
ERTHRENZNESETAAE -

RaWBVERETZTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

IFRS 16 “Leases” (continued)

FE 7 5T R RS 5T B PR B A 3R 45
8 (&)

B PR A5 3R 5 22 RIS 1655% [ E

(%)
(b) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (b) FEABHEERBRES
(Continued) (%)
The following table summarises the impacts of the TREMNAEBLRA B BK AR
adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group's consolidated AN BB B 7 s 22 R B 165R B 52
statement of financial position: 2.

Capitalisation
of operating
lease
contracts

Carrying
amount at
31 May 2019
R2019%F
5A318 /)
AREE
RM'000

Carrying
amount at
1 June 2019
20194
6B1BH)
REE
RM'000

KEHEAN
£¥NI
RM'000

At At A
Ea= ~ A ~ (A

RRMBERA RS LR
FIORTENGEAUMH
RREZEFIAER

Line items in the consolidated
statement of financial position
impacted by the adoption of IFRS
16:

Right-of-use assets EREEE - 1,91 1,911
Property, plant and equipment YE - BENERE 4,854 (83) 4,771
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 5,309 1,828 7,137
Payables and accrued charges ENZBERESER (6,361) - (6,361)
Lease liabilities HEaRE - (466) (466)
current liabilities nEEE (6,361) (466) (6,827)
Net current assets FRBEE 30,406 (466) 29,940
Total assets less current BEERARBEE

liabilities 35,715 1,362 37,077
Lease liabilities HEaRE - (1,362) (1,362)
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBELE (281) (1,362) (1,643)
Net assets FEE 35,434 - 35,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

Impact on the financial result and cash
flows of the Group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities as at 1 June 2019, the Group as
a lessee is required to recognise interest expense
accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease
liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use
asset, instead of the previous policy of recognising
rental expenses incurred under operating leases on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. This results
in a negative impact on the reported loss from
operations in the Group's consolidated statement of
profit or l0ss, as compared to the results if IAS 17 had
been applied during the year.

In the statement of cash flows, the Group as
a lessee is required to split rentals paid under
capitalised leases into their capital element and
interest element (see note 22). These elements are
classified as financing cash outflows, similar to how
leases previously classified as finance leases under
IAS 17 were treated, rather than as operating cash
outflows, as was the case for operating leases under
IAS 17. Although total cash flows are unaffected, the
adoption of IFRS 16 therefore results in a significant
change in presentation of cash flows within the
statement of cash flow.

The following tables give an indication of the
estimated impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on
the Group’s financial result, segment results and
cash flows for the year ended 31 May 2020, by
adjusting the amounts reported under IFRS 16 in
these consolidated financial statements to compute
estimates of the hypothetical amounts that would
have been recognised under IAS 17 if this superseded
standard had continued to apply in 2020 instead
of IFRS 16, and by comparing these hypothetical
amounts for 2020 with the actual 2019 corresponding
amounts which were prepared under IAS 17.

F& PR 3 5T R ASAE BT B R Bt 5 3 5

3 UNE D)

B PR A5 3R 22 RIS 1655% [ HHE
(&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. A RZEBITEBRMBRE

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING AR (&)
STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) IR RS ERZE165% [ HE
(%)
c. Impact on the financial result and cash c. HEAKEEHBEERAESRE
flows of the Group (Continued) W& (&)

2020
2020

Deduct:
Estimated
amounts related
Add back: IFRS to operating Hypothetical Compared to
Amounts 16 depreciation leases as if amounts for  amounts reported
reported under and interest under IAS 17 2020 as if under for 2019 under IAS
IFRS 16 expense (note 1&2) IAS 17

ik 5BEE
RENETEE 20205
BERREE HR:ABEE  CENREER BReE
BERAZ16% REENF16%  SHENFTE)  (CEORBER
SRNeE  FERASHX (MEH1R2)  &EAE178)
(A) (B) (C) (D=A+B-C)
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

A% A% A% A%
~A ~NA ~NH N A

Financial result for RRRERYBRLE
year ended 31 May ARy EnER
2020 impacted by the 20205 F31R £
adoption of IFRS 16; EHEBRE
Loss from operations meEE (3,741) 2,326 (2,284) (3,699) (1,891)
Finance costs BEAMK (225) 186 - (39) (14)
Loss before taxation BHAEE (3,966) 2,512 (2,284) (3,738) (1,905)
Loss for the year FRER (4,428) 2,512 (2,284) (4,200) (2,649)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. EAFIERKEBITERIHBRE

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING R (&)
STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued) BRI RS ERZE165% [ HE
(%)
c. Impact on the financial result and cash c. HEAKEEHBEERAESRE
flows of the Group (Continued) W& (&)

2020
2020%
Estimated
amounts
related to
operating  Hypothetical
Amounts leases as if ~ amounts for
reported under  under IAS 17 2020 as if
IFRS 16 (note 1&2)  under IAS 17
FRGEHEN
it &8 20205
REERHE (ENREER BHeH
BERASE165 SHENE7H)  (HOREER
2HNEH (W1k2) SHEHE7H)
() (B) (C=A+B)
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Ax AE A%
<A A A=

Line items in the consolidated HR00F5ANBILEENS
statement of cash flows for year 2B &R E R0 Z S MHERA
ended 31 May 2020 impacted ~ HBEEI 16T EMET|
by the adoption of IFRS 16: EE

Cash generated from operations &% (Frf)/ Bi28E4 649 (2,284) (1,635)
Net cash generated from weEy (FA)/

operating activities BEFH 437 (2,284) (1,847)
Capital element of lease rentals  DHAERS 2 A2 HH

paid (2,098) 2,098
Interest element of lease rentals  2NEEBL 2 HEHH

paid (186) 186
Net cash generated from/(used  BEEBFE /(FTA)

in) financing activities BeF8 2,459 (2,284)

HREEABRAR /2020 £

Compared
to amounts
reported for
2019 under

IAS 17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)
IFRS 16 “Leases” (Continued)

88

Impact on the financial result and cash

flows of the Group (Continued)
Notes:

1 The “estimated amounts related to operating leases”
is an estimate of the amounts of the cash flows in
2020 that relate to leases which would have been
classified as operating leases, if IAS 17 had still
applied in 2020. This estimate assumes that there
were no differences between rentals and cash flows
and that all of the new leases entered into in 2020
would have been classified as operating leases under
IAS 17, if IAS 17 had still applied in 2020. Any potential
net tax effect is ignored.

2 In this impact table these cash outflows are
reclassified from financing to operating in order to
compute hypothetical amounts of net cash generated
from operating activities and net cash generated from/
(used in) financing activities as if IAS 17 still applied.

Leasehold investment property

Under IFRS 16, the Group is required to account for
all leasehold properties as investment properties
when these properties are held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation (“leasehold investment
properties”). The adoption of IFRS 16 does not
have a significant impact on the Group's financial
statements as the Group previously elected to apply
IAS 40, Investment properties, to account for all of its
leasehold properties that were held for investment
purposes as at 31 May 2019. Consequentially,
these leasehold investment properties continue to
be carried at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSS"),
which collective term includes all applicable
individual International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“IASS”)
and Interpretations issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
GEM of Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as
“the Group”) are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs
which are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
2 provides information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 May 2020 comprise the Group.

Items included in the financial statements of each
entity in the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). These
consolidated financial statements are presented
in Ringgit Malaysia (“"RM"), rounded to the nearest
thousand (RM'000), unless otherwise stated. RM is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of IFRSs that have a significant effect on the
financial statements and major source of estimation
uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out
below.

90
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXRSHEBE &)
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (b) &OtE®E

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiary companies. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary company begins
when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
company and ceases when the Group loses control
over the subsidiary company. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary company acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the date
when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary
company.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of a subsidiary company to bring
its accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(c) Merger accounting for business

92

combination involving entities under
common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statement items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if they had been combined from the date
when the combining entities or businesses first came
under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are combined using the existing carrying amounts
from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount
is recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of
acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of common control combination,
to the extent of the continuation of the controlling
party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each of
the combining entities or businesses from the earliest
date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under common
control, where this is a shorter period, regardless the
date of the common control combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 3 (i):

- interests in leasehold land and buildings where
the Group is the registered owner of the
property interest (see note 3 ()));

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over
leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

- items of plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets arising from leases of underlying
plant and equipment (see note 3 ())).

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(e) Investment properties

94

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are measured initially at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as
to write off the cost of investment properties over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposals.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(8)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, and the fair
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquire (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, that amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquire and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquire (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain. Following initial recognition, goodwill is
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired is allocated, from the acquisition date, to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“"CGUSs")
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

Where goodwill forms part of a CGU and part of
the operation within that CGU is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the
operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative fair values of the
operations disposed of and the portion of the CGU
retained.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average cost method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments

96

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial
instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross earning
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Bt 7% ok M &

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

98

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment
under IFRS 9 including receivables and deposits,
amount owing from ultimate holding company,
amount owing from a shareholder, short-term bank
deposits and cash at bank. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the management'’s
assessment on the individual customer’s credit
risk grading dependent on the customer’s financial
performance, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Other financial asset measured at fair value, including

equity securities measured at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL) are not subject to the ECL assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

. significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

100

(i)

(in

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

. an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’'s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(iif)

(@)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower,

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

102

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case
of trade receivables, when the amounts are
over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information.

Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights. Generally, the ECL is the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the group entities are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
(h) Financial instruments (continued)

104

Equity investment

The Group’s policies for investments in equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are as follows:

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the
investment the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) (non-recycling)
such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment
meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s
perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling)
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained
profits. It is not recycled through profit or loss.
Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other income in
accordance with the policy set out in note 3(n).

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values, it is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

o the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and

o the amount recognised initially less, where
appropriate the cumulative amount of income
recognised in accordance to the principles of
IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Other financial liabilities

The Group’s other financial liabilities including
payables and accrued charges and amount owing to
a director are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the considerations paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial
assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

106

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the
customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee

()

(i

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 June 2019

Where the contract contains lease
component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated
non-lease components as a single lease
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less and leases of low-value
assets. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group
decides whether to capitalise the lease on
a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense
on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability
is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are
not included in the measurement of the
lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(J) Leased assets (continued)
(i) As a lessee (Continued)

(A)

108

Policy applicable from 1 June 2019
(Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 3(d) and 3(i)),
except for the following types of right-of-
use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property in
accordance with note 3(e); and

- right-of-use assets related to

leasehold land and buildings where
the Group is the registered owner of
the leasehold interest are carried at
cost in accordance with note 3(d).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

()

(i

(A)

Policy applicable from 1 June 2019
(Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or
rate, or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee,
or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way,
a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets
that do not meet the definition of
investment property and lease liabilities
separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

()

110

(i

As a lessee (Continued)
(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 June 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the
Group classified leases as finance leases
if the leases transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership to
the Group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the Group were classified
as operating leases, with the following
exceptions:

- property held under operating leases
that would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property
was classified as investment property
on a property-by-property basis and,
if classified as investment property,
was accounted for as if held under a
finance lease (see note 3(e)); and

- land held for own use under an
operating lease, the fair value
of which could not be measured
separately from the fair value
of a building situated thereon at
the inception of the lease, was
accounted for as being held under
a finance lease, unless the building
was also clearly held under an
operating lease. For these purposes,
the inception of the lease was the
time that the lease was first entered
into by the Group, or taken over from
the previous lessee.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leased assets (continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

()

(i

(B)

Policy applicable prior to 1 June 2019
(Continued)

Where the Group acquired the use of
assets under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased
asset, or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments, of such
assets were recognised as property, plant
and equipment and the corresponding
liabilities, net of finance charges, were
recorded as obligations under finance
leases. Depreciation was provided at rates
which wrote off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant
lease or, where it was likely the Group
would obtain ownership of the asset,
the life of the asset, as set out in note
3(d). Impairment losses were accounted
for in accordance with the accounting
policy as set out in note 3(i). Finance
charges implicit in the lease payments
were charged to profit or loss over the
period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of
charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.
Contingent rentals were charged to profit
or loss in the accounting period in which
they were incurred.

3.

EXRSTHEREBE (&)

(j) HEEE #®
(i) fERFEBEA B

(B) 2019F6H1H.Z 5iEFH
IR (&)
WAEERERERE
BEEEMNERE - A
HEREEEEATE
SZEEERKASERN
HZBE (UBREE A
B) WS EERRAY
¥ BB LRE - miAE
EaE (TsREER)
P A E M E AR
TEEHBAMREBSE
EH A AFER (R
FE3(d) (A & E AR 7]
BEMEBEECHEBRE)
A R E E R AN S
HE L EFRREE
BEREMEIFEE
BRI AR - HERK
ZEEEReRNHEAA
FAER UitERE
FFHAMARBIREN B G
RN EE AT HE
BLLE - iAHERE
Az et B ERH
g/éf}o

miREBARLD T /2020 F£3R

111



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leased assets (Continued)

()

112

(i

As a lessee (Continued)

(B)  Policy applicable prior to 1 June 2019
(Continued)
Where the Group had the use of assets
held under operating leases, payments
made under the leases were charged to
profit or 10ss in equal instalments over the
accounting periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis
was more representative of the pattern
of benefits to be derived from the leased
asset. Lease incentives received were
recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals were charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they were incurred.

(ii) As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines
at lease inception whether each lease is a
finance lease or an operating lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to
the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note
3(n).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

()

Leased assets (continued)

(ii) As a lessor (Continued)
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the
sub-leases are classified as a finance lease or as
an operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the
Group applies the exemption, then the Group
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(k) Trade and other receivables

)

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a
contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (note 3(h)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
measured in accordance with note 3(h), trade and
other payables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

114

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months
of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management are also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents for the
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows.
Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECLS in
accordance with the policy set out in note 3(h).

Revenue

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group's
performance as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates and enhances

an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(n) Revenue (Continued)

J the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(o) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short-term employee benefits

Wages, salaries, bonuses and non-monetary
benefits are recognised as expense in the period
in which the associated services are rendered
by employees of the Group. Short-term non-
accumulating compensated absences such as
sick leave are recognised when the absences
occur.

Retirement benefits costs

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered services entitling
them to the contributions. The Group has
no further payment obligations once these
contributions have been paid.

(p) Foreign currency

116

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at yearend exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(p) Foreign currency (Continued)

(ii) Translation reserve
For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group's foreign operations are expressed in
Ringgit Malaysia using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of the reporting period. Income and
expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuated significantly during that year, in
which case the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

(q) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before
taxation as reported in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because of income or expenses that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

3.

EXRSTHEREBE (&)
(p) 5N (40

(i) ELFRE
REJNFAMBRERME
REBBIEBNEENA
BERARERARBITER
NS EII - WA KFXIA
BTy FRFHERLHK -
BROERZFAEXRKIENE
FibBER TRAR 5 B B H
ERGE - FTELELZR
(mE) T i 2 R S
RIENELFBHE xR
at e

(q) BIE

P15 150 B S A2 1 B e A< B TR R
IERERIARAN

BN IR

BIEA e N B IR TR IR 6 A B FERR AR
EHEHE - ERBUS N RAR S B
KEMEE R R T 2 BAOBRTAT
EBEAR - RREREMEENE
AR A KA MBFASIER - kit
ARBRKTAMRANIER - NEME
Y BEARE TR A & 5 HioR 2 MRk
BEECHEMHREHE -

WHmEEARAT /2020 £ 117



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(q) Taxation (continued)

118

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets, if any,
is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of each reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(q) Taxation (continued)

(r)

(s)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Provision, contingent liabilities and

onerous contracts

(i) Provision and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of past events, when it is probable
that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.
Where a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation,
its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(s) Provision, contingent liabilities and
onerous contracts (continued)

120

(M

(i)

Provision and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

A contingent liability or asset is a possible
obligation or asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or nonoccurrence of uncertain
future events not only wholly within the control
of the Group.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs
of meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to
be received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of
continuing with the contract.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
underlying assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of each reporting period that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next 12 months.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses simplified approach in calculating
allowance of ECL for trade receivables by applying an
ECL rate. The ECL rate is determined based on the
management’s assessment on the individual customer’s
credit risk grading dependent on the customer’s financial
performance, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions at the reporting date
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
time value of money where appropriate. At each reporting
date, the ECL rate is remeasured. The allowance for ECL is
sensitive to changes in estimates.

The information about the ECL and the carrying amounts
of receivables at the reporting date are disclosed in note
27(b) and 18.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARDIER
(a) Disaggregation of revenue from (a) BEIRRBI | EERIE155RE
contracts with customers under IFRS TEEFEEHWAZDHE -
15:

Year ended
31 May 2019
HE20194

Year ended
31 May 2020
HZE2020%

5A31H 5A31H
HEE HFE

Total Total
F RET
RM’000 RM’000

<A ~< A

Manufacturing and trading:

ERE S

Sales of manufactured goods K miHE
Other building materials and E M EEM B R R
services:

Sales of building materials BEMRIEE

Rental of crane services TR E WA E AR
Japanese catering services HARZR:
Sourcing services R AR 7%

Total st
Geographical market: Hb & T 55

Malaysia R E

China - Hong Kong PR — B8
Total st
Timing of revenue recognition LN i
At point in time b diEarIE
Over time Bi& 5
Total 5T
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19,328
3,684

23,012

19,437

6,654
26
3,043
291

29,451

26,117
3,334

29,451

29,425
26
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from

contracts with customers under IFRS
15: (Continued)

Sales of manufactured goods and building
materials

Revenue from sales of manufactured goods and
building materials is recognised at a point in time
when the manufactured goods and building materials
are transferred to customers, being at the point that
the customer obtains the control of the manufactured
goods and building materials; and the Group has
present right to payment and collection of the
consideration is probable.

Rental of crane services

Revenue from rental of crane services is recognised
over time, and the progress measured using the
output method based on the amount the Group has
right to invoice with application of practical expedient
in IFRS 15: paragraph B16 as the Group has right
to consideration from a customer in an amount
corresponds directly with the value to the customer
of the Group’s performance completed to date. The
rental of crane services are billed to client on daily
basis.

Japanese catering services

The Group provides Japanese food on catering basis
to customer. Revenue is recognised at point in time
when the customer obtains the control of the food
and catering services and the Group has present right
to payment and collection of the consideration is
probable.

sourcing services

The Group acts as an agent when its performance
obligation is to arrange for provision of specified
materials by another party to customer. The Group
does not control the specified materials. Therefore,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount of
commission to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for arranging for the specified materials to
be provided by the other party.

5.

WARDEBER (&)

(@) BB Bt %5 3R & 2 B 551558

HTITEFENBAZSE
(%)

KR mREEMNEE

SR R EEM B ERA R
Aoan R RS BB T R PR
FEER - AR PESRMK M MR
FRHROIE DI - RS BIREHE
SARE - BREREE -

HEEREERY

T PR B B 75 s 5 R RN S8 1558
FEB16E 12 - BEBHEERBUA
BER FERER - WiE A HEREA
SEERLAERRZSHTEE
B RESAEEAEA TP
SHRERMERARETFPES T
RZBEREBEZRE EEREE
RIGBRAEZFHIRER -

AAREE
AEBNERBERRATFEMHA
AR - REFPEGHRRNMER
RAGH RS AR EEIBR R A
fARAERARER RO E - R
A e

R RS
ERNBRB /LR —HRAEFRE
HEEMHE  AEEERNKRE
A o RSB BT BIIETE YR
It NEERRRASEBRAE
ESNAS  NERBRRHER TR
HEIEEM Y
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR

5.

B BHRME

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) Transaction price allocated to the

(c)

124

remaining performance obligation for
contracts with customers

The Group has applied practical expedient in
IFRS 15: paragraph 121 (a) and (b) to not disclose
the transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations which are part of contracts
that have original expected duration of one year or
less.

Operating Segment

Information reported to Mr. Loh Swee Keong, the
director of the Group, being the chief operating
decision maker ("“CODM"), for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance is based on the following reportable and
operating segments identified under IFRS 8 Operating
Segments:

(@) Manufacturing and trading — manufacturing and
trading of precast concrete junction boxes;

(b)  Other building materials and services - trading
of accessories and pipes and provision of
mobile crane rental and ancillary services; and

(c) Japanese catering services - provision of
Japanese catering services.

(d) Sourcing services — provision of sourcing
services.

No operating segments identified by the CODM

have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARDERESR (&)

(Continued)
(c) Operating Segment (continued) (c) B&EDI (&)
Segment revenues and results DHBARES
For the year ended 31 May 2020 BE2020F5A31ALFEE

Other building Japanese
Manufacturing  materials and catering sourcing
and trading services services services
Hthpg

RERES AR RRS AAEE BRI
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At At NS A%
E4=] <A <A <A

Revenue

External sales ShEPERE 23,012

Inter-segment sales PEBEE 5,836
Segment revenue AEBA 28,848
Elimination B (5,836)
Group revenue EEYA 23,012
Segment result PEEE 6,682
Administrative expenses {7 (10,361)
Selling and distribution ~ HERHHEHX

expenses (1,007)
Finance costs BERA (225)

Other income Hip A 945

Loss before taxation BHAER (3,966)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARDERESR (&)

(Continued)
(c) Operating Segment (continued) (c) é_: DE (&)
Segment revenues and results (continued) DEBMARFELE (&)
For the year ended 31 May 2019 BZE2019F5A31ALFE
Other building Japanese
Manufacturing materials and catering Sourcing
and trading Services Services Services
AAZE PREE RS
RM'000 RM'000
T2& T2&
Revenue WA
External sales HNEEHE 19,437 6,680 3,043 91 29,451
Inter-segment sales DEREEE 7,174 943 — — 8,117
Segment revenue GELUN 26,611 7,623 3,043 291 37,568
Elimination iR (8,117)
Group revenue EEHA 29,451
Segment result NEEE 5,195 502 1,754 141 7,592
Administrative expenses  THBI (8,737)
Selling and distribution HERDBERE
expenses (1,125)
Finance costs R (14)
Other income EhlA 379
Loss before taxation BEaES (1,905)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARDERESR (&)

(Continued)

(c) Operating Segment (Continued) (c) R&EDI (&)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DHRARESE (&)
The accounting policies of the operating segments £RE 5y ER R S RT R SR BRI 3 AT i
are the same as the Group’s accounting policies RSB BEEER - HEES
as described in note 3. Segment results represents T ARDEITHY - HERDH
the profit from each segment without allocation of X - BERA - EMARTIE
administrative expenses, selling and distribution A& DB o Lt AR E RS A
expenses, finance costs, other income and taxation. REBFIHEOMBE TEFLRE
This is the measure reported to CODM for the FERARETEFE ©
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market DECEHE AR RIS R KA
rates with discount given for certain bulk purchase. FRREBA TGS -
Segment assets and liabilities PHMEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and TX R mEREEHEHE S
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: AEBEERBEDT
As at 31 May 2020 7202065 H31H

Other
building Japanese Segment Consolidated
Manufacturing  materials and Catering Sourcing assets assets
and trading services Services services (liabilities)  Unallocated (liabilities)

Afreg AHRE RAKE
REREZ  MARER AARE RRERK (BR) (BF)
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 ' RM'000

A+ A+ At At A+ At
NR NAR YA NR NR NAR

Non-current assets sEEEAE 5,374 615 2,197 8,186 8,746

Curentassels  REIEE 21,619 : ' 5384 35,647 : 31441
Non-current EEY

ligbilities (369) (159) (1,187) (1,187)
Current liabilities  F#EfE (5,028) (474) (2,253) (8,100) (8,892)
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5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION
(Continued)
(c) Operating Segment (continued)

128

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)
As at 31 May 2019

Other
building
materials and
services
Hipas

Japanese
Catering
Services

Manufacturing
and trading

Non-Current assets 3 7E)E%E 4,35 3% 184
Curentassets  FEIAE 17,651 8118 628
Non-current ESEIEY

liabilities - - -
Current liabiiies &8 (& (4.487) (487) (403)

5.

WARDEBER (&)

AR ()
THEEREE
#2019%5A31H

(c)

Segment Consolidated
sourcing asSets aSsets
Services (liabilities) Unallocated (liabilities)
RERE 1 A

RM'000 RM'000
T4F
330 5,235 74 5,309
9,720 36,117 650 36,767
- - (281) (281)
291) (5,668) (693) (6,367)

All assets and liabilities are allocated to operating
segments other than certain cash on hand and at
bank, other payables, current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 May 2020

Other building
Manufacturing  materials and
and trading

services
Hfpes
HRREH
RM'000

AL
YA

RERER
RM'000

At
Ea=]

Amounts included inthe  BEESEH MEFE
A4

measure of segment FRANTEENS
profit or loss or 8
segment assets:

Additions to non-current  FEERBHAE
assets

Shop rental [EERE
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Japanese
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services  Unallocated Total

BARE
RM'000

At
Ex-

RBRR
RM'000
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JRA
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RM'000

At
Ea=]



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARSHER &)
(Continued)
(c) Operating Segment (Continued) (c) R&EDI (&)
Other segment information (continuea) Hithp HER ()
For the year ended 31 May 2019 BZE2019F5A31ALFEE

Other building Japanese
Manufacturing ~ materials and catering sourcing
and trading services services services Unallocated
s
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
TLE 28 28
Amounts included inthe  BE#E: B D EBEHI;
measure of segment BRISDEENS
profit or oss or £
segment assets:
Additions to non-current BB AR
assets 1179 5 30 114 - 1,328
Factory rental THAE 498 - - - - 498
Shop rental [EEHE - - 650 - - 650
Geographical information EER
The Group earns revenue from external customers in A& B A MR = 2[R SRR P R
two main geographical areas: BUA -

() Malaysia — manufacturing and trading; and other
building material and services

(i)~ China — Hong Kong — Japanese catering services;
and sourcing services

) BROAGZ-HERES R
H A3 S K AR TS

(i) HE-FE-BLEE: X
EREE RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARDERESR (&)

(Continued)

(c) Operating Segment (continued) (c) R&EDI (&)
Other segment information (continuead) HitpEER ()
Geographical information (Continued) wEER (&)
Information about the Group's revenue from external BEAEBERBINIEPWANE
customers is presented based on the location of the B ERH 25T

operations, as follows:

2020
20204

RM’000

A4
<I8=

Malaysia P i 19,328 26,117

China - Hong Kong FE — B 3,684 3,334

23,012 29,451
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount TN RIREEMEMERE D H) 5 5
of segment assets, capital addition in respect of BE WE BERZHBIZED
property, plant and equipment by the geographical EREEDT

areas in which the assets are located:

Capital addition property,
Total assets plant and equipment
EE#E M BRERRZHEEE
2020 2020 A0
20204 20204 20194
RM'000 RM’000 RM’000

A A4 A=
Ea=| <R ~< A

Malaysia BT
China - Hong Kong FE— &
Unallocated Rt

144
2,354 724

46,187 42,076
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENTAL INFORMATION 5. WARDERESR (&)

(Continued)

(c) Operating Segment (Continued) (c) R&EDI (&)
Other segment information (continued) Hit 2 EER (&)
Information about major customers FEEFESR
No customer contributes over 10% of total revenue MEEP BARNEEH E202065H
of the Group for the year ended 31 May 2020 and 31 31H %2019F5A318 IEFE M4
May 2019. THERRERIE10% ©

6. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS 6. EEME

Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the Directors ENENAAREENHE (BREES

of the Company (including emoluments for their services AR RNBESHEANEETRES K

as employees or Directors at the Group prior to becoming EEMRBIE) FIBENT -

the directors of the Company) are as follows:
For the year ended 31 May 2020 B ZE2020F5831HLLFE

Executive
Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
Yi7Es BUkHTES

Mr. She
Mr. Loh Mr. Chu Mr. Yau Shing

Swee Keong Kin Ming Ka Hei Albert Ma
Loh Swee

Keong# 4 KERLE BRELE FRER4

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At At At At
EX] EL L 38

Directors: £%:
Fees fe
Other emoluments: HihEm -
Salaries &

Contributions to Employees BSR4 ([EEARE])
Provident Fund ('EPF) (Note) ~ 3: (4it)

Total 3
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6.

132

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
For the year ended 31 May 2019

EEME ()
HBHZE2019F5R31HILFE

Executive Directors Independent Non-executive Directors
HIES 182
Mr. Mr. She
Mr. Loh Mr. Tan Mr. Chu Mr. Yau Alexander shing
SweeKeong  Cheng Siong Kin Ming Patrick Lee Albert Ma
Loh Swee Tan Cheng
Keongst Siong# & TR E
RM'000
TLE
Directors: EES
Fees ik 138 3 79 79 ¥ 3 377
Other emoluments: HhEm
Salaries ZE 192 - - — — - 192
Contributions to Employees  EE A4
Provident Fund ("EPF') ((EE2EE))
(Note) 3 (Hit) & 1 - - - - 1
Total @t 33 4 79 79 39 39 613
Note: e -

The Group is required by Malaysian law to make monthly
contributions to the EPF, a statutory defined contribution plan for
all its eligible employees based on certain prescribed rates of the
employees’ applicable remuneration. Contributions are charged to
profit or loss in the period in which they relate. The contributions
to EPF are disclosed separately and the contributions to EPF are
included in salaries, bonuses, allowances and other staff benefits.
Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no further
payment obligations. No forfeited contribution is available to
reduce the contribution payable in future year.

Mr. Tan Cheng Siong resigned on 13 June 2018.

Mr. Lee, Alexander Patrick resigned as Independent Non-
executive Director on 3 December 2018.

Mr. Ma, She Shing Albert were appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director on 3 December 2018.
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DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

During both periods, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors of the Company as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of the office.

No Directors’ emoluments were waived during both
periods.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown were mainly
for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Group and of the Company. The
Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments were
for their services as Directors of the Company.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 1
and 1 Director for the year ended 31 May 2019 and 31 May
2020 respectively, details of whose remuneration are set
out in Note 6. Details of the remuneration for the remaining
4 and 4 highest paid employees who are neither a Director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

Salaries and allowances e MERL
Bonuses TE4T
Contributions to EPF EEAESHER

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

EEME (@)

RAEREA > AEEYERARFE
FXNEAME - ERNAREELR
IRAANER B By 1) SRR S (E A B 5]

REREREA - SEEEHENST -

PO BMITEEME D EERWE
RHUEAMEEAKBRARREHHIR
BREME - BUFATESZME D
RREERARBEEMIRHARE Z T
S

TERSEHMEA
AEERARSHMEAD N SREE
201945 A31 8 &202045A31A IF F &
1B RIBES  BRFMFBERN
iH6 o R MAB AR REHMER (FEAR
RRAIEEHTZTHRAR) WHFHFEH
pIanR -

77

968
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mEMB®RERHME

7. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued) 7. LEBSHFMEA &)

The number of the highest paid individuals (other than the ATESE=EFMEA (EEKRIN (G
directors) whose remuneration fell within the following BT AT #E) BAZK -

bands is as follows:

Nil to HKD1,000,000 T 7T21,000,0007% 7T

During both periods, no emoluments were paid by the RRERER s AEETERAQFR
Group to the five highest paid employees of the Company EZEaTHNEEZNEMBMSE - ERN
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as AZR S B3R DN AN &2 B i 1) B2 sk 1
compensation for loss of the office. REERE -

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. ®EMRAK

Interest expense on: THFIERHMEFXL:

Leases liabilities HERE —
Other facilities HighE S
Commitment fees R 9
14
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9. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 9. BREAIEE
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ B AIEEING S (GEA) U T &IBERE
(crediting): 2
2020 2019
20204 20194
RM’'000 RM’000
2 FL&5
Auditors’ remuneration 1% B4 A % B 436 713
Cost of inventories recognised as an R AR X HFEKA
expense 12,219 15,347
Staff costs, excluding directors’ ETITNRA TEEES
remuneration: e -
— Salaries, wages and other benefits — %% - TERHEMEF
il 5,512
— Contributions to EPF —EERESMHEN 412
5,924
Total minimum lease payments for SR IRIE B 2 5 2R
leases previously classified as F1TRD B RICE
operating leases under I1AS17: AEnHENRE
HE Rz
Factory T 498
Crane REE A 60
Shop JE 45 650
Staff accommodation ETIES 19
Office equipment WRERE 19
Lease payments not included inthe kRt A EHREEEHD
measurement of lease liabilities HEMR
Crane jisp==R; -
Shop JE -
Office equipment MR -
Office WARE -
Depreciation of: AT &IBE -
Property, plant and equipment W - BB RE 869
Investment property BEME 10
Right-of-use assets EREEE -
Allowance for credit losses: EEEBEEE -
Trade receivables Z SR GRIE 27
Deposits paid Bf%Ee -
Allowance for credit losses no longer HEB{EEEEBEMG
required (110)
Property, plant and equipment WEHE - BRE MR
written off 13
Rental income from investment WEMEHHAS A
property —
Bad debts written off RS -
Bad debt written back RO (10)
Realised gain on foreign exchange B IR IE 5 IS (48)
Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign REFIRIE N EE S (WE)
exchange (351)
Interest income on: AT EIEZAEWA -
Deposits at bank RITER (46)
Late payment from receivables TR WA (333)
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REMBHRRME

10. TAXATION

Malaysia corporate income tax:

10. HIH

HRATEEMEN

Current year KEE 683
Underprovision in prior years BEFEREIR 45
Deferred tax (Note 23): RERIR (HaE23) :
Current year REFE 110
(Over)/Under provision in prior years BEFE (BEEE),
BETE (94)
16
744
Malaysia corporate income tax is calculated at the ARG REMGHESERNEED
statutory tax rate of 24% (2019: 24%) on the estimated fill 5T B AR B F 32 0% TE B R24% (2019
assessable profits for each of the assessable year. F:24%) 5t 8 -
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at a rate of 16.5% BEAFESRIOBEFAZGTERT G
(2019:16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the M1Z16.5% (20194 : 16.5%) 2 B E &+
year. Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for & o & F20204 N2019F5A31H I F
the years ended 31 May 2020 and 2019 as there is no E  BRERELEERT Az - QA E

assessable profits for both periods.

EBMEHETERE
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10. TAXATION (Continued) 10. BiE ()

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the loss

before taxation as follows:

FREBAERHATEBROERMNT -

2020
20204

RM’000

P
<A

Loss before taxation B ATEE (3,966) (1,905)
Statutory tax rate EEBE 24% 24%
Taxation at applicable statutory tax HEREEMETTED
rate g (457)
Tax saving of 7% (2019: 7%) (Note) EF7% (20194 : 7%)
(K17) (70)
Tax effects of: T EIENREZE
Expenses not deductible for tax TRANFRAX
purpose 1,046
Income not taxable for tax purpose HARTKA (6)
Effect of different tax rate of entities R E b B ERER KL HY
operating in other jurisdictions ERMNTRMEZE 280
Underprovision of income tax payable  B1F & E TS RLEY
in prior years BB R 45
Under/(Over) provision of deferred tax  @7E 4 /& iR T 1B A B
in prior years BrR /(R E) (94)
Taxation for the year FEHIE 744

Note: Under the Income Tax Act, 1967 of Malaysia, small and
medium enterprises in Malaysia with paid-up capital
amounting to RM2,500,000 or less are subject to income tax
at the rate of 17% for the year ended 31 May 2019 and 31
May 2020, on chargeable income amounting to RM500,000
or less. For chargeable income in excess of RM500,000, the
corporate income tax rate is 24% for the year ended 31 May

2019 and 31 May 2020 respectively.

et - IRIE B R an 1967 F FTiSRiE - 822019
F5A318 K2020F5A3MBIEFE - RB
76 78 25 R A5 485 R AR 72,500,000 F 8 A T
B DR EES BIRRE17% &S A
500,000% & H) &R T W A BN Fr 15 Ft
Z A B E500,000% F A FER TR A - &
Z20194E5A31H &20209E5 8318 1F 4
B hEMBHRED R H24% -
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11. LOSS PER SHARE 1. BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the GRREREIBIIRE THEIEE
following data:

HEREAERME M

Loss for the purpose of basic loss

per share: [E518:
Loss for the year attributable to KRB NEREE
the owners of the Company B8 (2,649)

Number of Number of
shares shares
B5EE f&in e g

Weighted average number of ordinary  BRstEERENEEN
shares for the purpose of calculating 3% hniE E 1528

basic loss per share 624,484,000 620,000,000

No diluted loss per share information has been presented B R E 2201995 A31H &2020%5H31
for the year ended 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 as there BIEFEAERBEINET LB -
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during both W EFRZWETE 20 SREEHFEN
years. B o

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BB
The directors of the Company do not recommend the AARESTEZBIRNEZE201995H31
payment of dividend for the year ended 31 May 2019 and B &202055 A31 B IFFEHRE -
31 May 2020.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y%  BERRE

Leasehold
landand Plant and Motor Officc  Computer
building  machinery vehicles  Renovation Factory  equipment  software

e
Res REREK %R W WA IR BIEE WM
RM000 RA000 RMT000 RA000 RM000
T O £ £ N - M

Cost A
At 1 June 2018 A01BE6R1A 35 3018 1989 40 449 23 753 19 7265
Addition HE - k)| - 130 114 4 0 - 1308
Write off i - (13 - - - - - - (13
Disposal it - 19 15 - - - - - £l
At 31 My 2019 and A09ESRNAR

1 une 2019 1956718 35 3054 2004 o0 1593 2% 13 19 861
Realocate foright-ofuse  ERHREERE

85661 HE (120 - - - - - - - (120
Additions HE - - - - 286 - I3 - B
Eichange iferences EiZE - 0 1 b - - - - 0
A 31 May 2020 s3I s 307 2018 574 1879 8% 818 19 8865

Accumulated depreciation ~ Zit#E

At 1 June 2018 P0BE6R1A 117 1,353 403 19 218 19 467 19 2885
Depreciation for the year EffE 1 47 19% 61 108 19 81 - 869
Exchange differences EXEER - 4 2 - - - - - §
At 31 May 2019 and RO9ES AR

1Jne 2019 W19 A18 1 1774 603 U0 Ryl 148 28 19 3760
Realocate torightofuse  EFAHREERE

aSSets 2z (37) - - - - - - - (3)
Depreciation for the year EffE 5 W 19 12 7 17 8 - %)
Exchange differences EXEE - 18 4 5 - - - - 7
At 31 May 2000 Ho0EsR31E % 218 801 % 0 165 % 19 173
Carrying value Eaf
At 31 May 2020 A0ESANA 153 88 1217 209 1377 i A - 4133
At 31 May 2019 P019E5A3A iy 1,280 1401 kRl 1,269 88 A5 - 4854
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13.

14.

140

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
except for construction in progress, are depreciated on a
straightline basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold land and building 2%
Plant and machinery 10%
Motor vehicles 10%
Renovation Over the remaining lease term — 20%
Mould 10%
Factory 10%
Office equipment 10%
Computer software 20%

The Group has pledged leasehold land and building with a
carrying value of approximately RM241,000 and RM149,000
as at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 respectively, to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group as disclosed
in note 29.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by
class of underlying asset is as follows:

ownership interests in EERAMMEE T

leasehold land held for own FrERER @ 1RInE
use, carried at depreciated AT BR

cost

13.

14.

Plant, machinery and
equipment, carried at
depreciated cost

MR - B RRE
IrEMAT R
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M BERRE (&)

Bty - BEM&ERR (ERTERR
SN) MBEAREIRIA T FERITE -

E i MigF 2%
R 55 R A, 10%
AE 10%
& RREREEEE - 20%
A 10%
Ti 10%
NS 10%
BB 20%

#2019F5A318 %20206F5A31H © &
SEDEREEEDB4241,0008F
149,000 EWHET HREF @ {EAK
SEERN—MRIRTTRVE RO (20pT
F29FTHER) ©

EHAEEE
ZIEMEERR B S OEAEEEZE
EVFEAATLT :

31 May 2020
2020%5H31H

1June 2019
20196 H1H
RM’000

A=
< A

RM’000

A%
<A

83

1,828

1,911
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 14. FREEE (&)
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases EERERERNEE AZXBEE ST
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: wm

2019
20194
(Note)

(KteE)

RM'000 RM'000

A== A==
~X H <A

Depreciation charge of right-of-use XA EEHERIZI 5 &9E R

assets by class of underlying asset: HEENERY :
Ownership interests in leasehold FEEANEE L
land held for own use Fi B iErE s 2 -
Plant, machinery and equipment Y - BE LR 2,324 -
2,326 -
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEEEFNE (HFF8) 186 -

Expense relating to short-term leases & Z=20205A318 [k~

and other leases with remaining ATHER TAHEA 2 R E K

lease term ending on or before 31 HmAEaMzMAx

May 2020 821 -
Total minimum lease payments for AR RER e R E

leases previously classified as 7R o AKEHENE

operating leases under IAS 17 B BEAENREE - 1,246

Notes: Mtat -

RNEEFE RS BINAE N ERBRRM GRS
B BE165E I AER 201956 518 2 BA¥ a4 -
LARERR 8 78 A AR B BB @ SR SB 1757 D A
EHEZHERM2EREEE - R2019F6A1
AVatERERREER - AEE (EAEEA)
BREREREEENE « MIERTAER N
NEEREIERCEHEETEEANHESRAY -
RIEZ % WBERTTEY - BHfE2 -

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at
1 June 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases
which were previously classified as operating leases under IAS
17. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets at 1 June 2019,
the Group as a lessee is required to recognise the depreciation of
right-of-use assets, instead of the previous policy of recognising
rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the comparative
information is not restated. See note 2.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were
approximately RM3,650,000. This amount related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is set out in note 22.

RER,FEREEENEL A3,650,000%F ° %
CHEENAEBHEETEMENMBENES
7o

HRHEE NIRRT ERMTE22

WM EEARAT / 2020 F 3§ 141



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

0]

15.

" (Continued)
Ownership interests in leasehold land held for own use

The Group holds land for its manufacturing and trading and
other building materials and services business, where its
manufacturing facilities are primarily located. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including
the whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered owners,
and there are no ongoing payments to be made under the
terms of the land lease, other than payments based on
rateable values set by the relevant government authorities.
These payments vary from time to time and are payable to
the relevant government authorities.

Other leases

The Group leases production factory, machinery and office
under leases expiring from 2 to 3 years. Some leases
include an option to renew the lease when all terms are
renegotiated. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

14. EREEE (&)
Wizt - ()

(i)

FIEEAMEE LA R

AEEFREEREERE S R HEMBEMN
MERBEBREN L ERERE
TEURNZFET ARERZENERE
@ (BEERE LN 2E R TR 5 E
ME) NEREBA - AEBECRAEXN
—EBFUR - LAEAERLHEE ARBEZ
SWEL BB TRIEAEETHER
EERBEEMEMIN  RAFTRILR L
HEGRRTREFENRK - ZRATRE
ERTRAETHAE AN EBEBAY
F -

HitpAE

REBERREMN F2E23FHELER
B B ERL - S0 HERBEEME K
FEHMBENERA T EEEENEEE -
HEMAREATEHENRK -

15. /REYE

Cost R

At 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 P20194%5831H k20205 H31H 450
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE

At 1 June 2018 12018F6H18 59
Charge for the year F AR 10
At 31 May 2019 201945 A31H 69
Charge for the year F IR 10
At 31 May 2020 720205 A31H 79
Carrying value RREE

At 31 May 2020 20205 H31H 371
At 31 May 2019 2019F5H31H 381
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)
The investment property, comprising of a freehold land and
building in Malaysia, is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over 50 years.

Rental income earned by the Group from the investment
property which is leased out under operating leases,
amounted to approximately RM12,000 for the year ended
31 May 2020 (2019: Nil). Direct operating expenses incurred
in respect of the investment property amounted to RM873
and RM2,549 for the year ended 31 May 2019 and 31 May
2020 respectively.

The fair values of the Group's investment property were
estimated by the directors at RM690,000 and RMé90,000
at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 respectively based on
the valuation report on the investment property in prior
year and updated to take into consideration certain recent
transactions involving similar properties in the vicinity. The
fair value is a Level 3 fair value estimation. In estimating
the fair value of the property, the highest and best use of
the property is its current use.

16. EQUITY INVESTMENT

Unlisted equity securities FLEMERES

Classified as: DA
Financial assets at fair value through 12 A F(EE ABZEH
profit or loss CRIEE

The above investment represented investments in unlisted
equity securities in Hong Kong.

15. REWE (&)

REMHE (BREBFRAE AR
BF) IABEMERSOFAENE -

HE2020F5831HIEFE - AEEEIE
BEYE (RBLERELME) BIMAS
WAH) £12,0002 5 (20194 : &) « &
201958318 &20205F5A318 1F F
B BREVEEENEELERYD
RA873%FH K&2,5492F ©

201945 4318 &20205F5H318 + £
EEMARIAKSENREMERFED
7l /690,000% & }&690,000% & + Ty iR
BEFREDENHERSL IR
MEDS RN E B UM ENR 5 F
Heo MERE=RATEME - NEaT
MERNTER  DENRSRKERSE
ERERITRE

16. RERE

2020 2019
20204 20194

RM’'000 RM’000

P A=
<A ~< B

561 -

BN EBNIE LTSRS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

17. INVENTORIES 17. #&

2020
20204

RM’000

A
=

At cost: LR
Raw materials and consumables R KB #E 1,025
Finished goods RIEY Sh 755
1,780
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an EERABAX T ABESNGFESES
expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: Mo -

2020
20205
RM'000 RM'000

PN A
<A < B

Carrying amount of inventories sold B &EEFEHERE 12,219

18. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 18. FEIFIE - RERFENFRK

2020
20205

RM’000

P
<A

Trade receivables B S El I 8,857
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEIEERE (870) (129)
7,987 9,931
Other receivables H b pE U Gk IR 154 2,755
Deposits ®e 3,177 746
Prepayments KB 705 69
12,023 13,501
The amounts due from trade debtors are unsecured, do JEWE SERFEIEFE TS MAE
not carry any interest and the credit term granted by the BT THEEHNFI0E1201 -

Group ranges from 30 to 120 days.
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18. RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 18. FEWiFIE ~ RERFENRK (&)

(Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net LUTABREBEEZEAHETNE B
of allowance for credit losses) presented based on the H (IR EESEEE) RO
invoice date.

2020
20204

RM’000

A4
==

1-30 days 1230H 308 3,373
31-60 days 31260H 44 1,264
61-90 days 61290H 876 1,037
91-120 days 912120H 1,395 296
More than 120 days 120H A 5,364 3,961
7,987 9,931
Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk AEEESREWRBEENEERER
arising from trade receivables are set out in note 27(b). EERBA# — BN E27(D) ©
19. AMOUNTS OWING FROM ULTIMATE 19. ERRAEZERATRRKRRENRIE
HOLDING COMPANY AND A SHAREHOLDER
The amount owing from ultimate holding company is non- JEWSRIZERARIFIERIEBESMHE
trade nature, unsecured, interest free and repayable on IR - R B RBIREKER -
demand.
The amount owing from a shareholder is non-trade nature, FEWBRRRIBAIESME - MEHR -
unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The GBENBEENRERE RYHRFEZR
maximum amount outstanding during the financial year is B R EE £ % A13,0002 T (20194 ¢
RM13,000 (2019: RM7,000). 7,00087%F) °
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20. SHORT-TERM BANK DEPOSITS, CASH AND 20. EHIRTER  RERBITHER
BANK BALANCES

2020 2019
20205 20194

RM’000 RM’000

A+ A=
Ea= Ed=]

Current: BPHA -

Short-term bank deposits RHESRITIE R 10,135 6,034

Cash on hand and at bank FHERRTRE 12,712 14,909
Total HEt 22,847 20,943
Less: Deposits pledged as security B BEREER2ER (1,135) (1,034)
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIRESEEY 21,712 19,909
Short-term bank deposits of the Group have an average REFESBFETEINTEHEBHAN T
maturity ranging from 1 to 3 months. Bank balances are 1E3ME R - RITABRBRIFERITHE
deposits held at with licensed banks. e
The average interest rates of deposits of the Group are 201945 H31H Kk2020F5H31H + &
ranging from 2.19% to 3.60% and ranging from 2.40% to EEERNFEHENED BN F2.19%F
3.70% per annum as at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 3.60%52.40%23.70% ° 1201945 H31
respectively. Included in the short-term bank deposits H K2020F5A310 - MHRITTFHRE
are amounts totaling RM1,034,000 and RM1,135,000 that &4 %8 5 71 51,034,000% F 1,135,000
have been pledged to secure general banking facilities SENDERSE  UARTALEEY
granted to the Group as at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 —RIRTTREE IR R (a0 Fd 532987 42
respectively as disclosed in note 29. ) o
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21. PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

Trade payables =) ANE e

Accrued charges FEFTE
Other payables E T FRIE
Advance from customers B EGR

21. BNREREER

2020
20204

RM’000

P =
<A

3,341

2,671 1,645
328 616
192 13

6,532 6,361

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables
presented based on the invoice dates:

1-30 days 1£30H
31-60 days 31E60H
61-90 days 61290H
91-120 days 91£120H
Over 120 days 1208 A &

ESEMNFBREZAHZINEED
MranT

2020
20205 20194
RM’000 RM’000

A+ A=
S Ed=]

514 1,628
29 1,665
403 698
1,262 89
1,133 7

3,341 4,087

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 to

75 days. The Group has financial risk management policies
in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the
credit timeframe.

BENFHEEHAR0EISH - AEE
R A R b TR R A RE AR PR B A
RIBBEEEHRALES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

22. LEASE LIABILITIES 22. HEGE
The following table shows the remaining contractual TRETAEBENE R RABT RS EM
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the RERBEZEE RS ERF1657
current and previous reporting periods and at the date of EAMNHEEENBRTALOHRMEIHE
transition to IFRS 16: (P

31 May 2020 1 June 2019 (Note)
2020%F5H31H 20196 A18 (M)
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease

payments payments payments payments
REHAE BIEEE REHE =EEE
NREE EE R NEIRE R 4EEE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FEx TER F=ET FET

Within 1 year —FRN 2,360 2,456

After 1 year but within —F & ERMRER

2 years 501 551
After 2 years but within WE2EBERTERN
5 years 795 834
After 5 years hFE 66 72
1,362 1,457
1,828 1,994
Less: total future B ARRF B R 4
interest expenses L] (166)
Present value of lease FAEBEIRE
liabilities 1,828
Note: Mt
The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 using the modified RNEE RSB IE & IR E A BB B s R 2
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1 BIZE165 WA B MR2019F6 18 2 AWl & 8% - A
June 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which R E AR ER G5 ERIE175R D B ALER
were previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17. EVHEEBE HEAE - FEBREZBBEMER
Further details on the impact of the transition to IFRS 16 are set ERERIE16F T E 2 — T BEE N2 o
out in note 2.
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mEMB®RERHNE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION 23. EERIE
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there B G ENITRER ] KB EAR I & E Y
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets SHENERT IR B E DA R W IEE R IR B2 [F] —
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes MG HEIERE  ARERBEEERARE
relate to the same tax authority. The following amounts, FUAEEE o« U THEIIKIREHIHRBE
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the TE SRR BARR K ¢

statements of financial position:

Deferred tax assets LT IEE B
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEE & (281)
(207)

At beginning of year REH]

Charged to profit or loss (note 10) BREZMNER (Fa10) 16
At end of year RER 207
The deferred tax assets/(liabilities) mainly represent the tax EEBIEEE (B8R TE2EVE K
effect of (deductible)/taxable temporary differences arising B REHEOREEZE (FTHR), ERHR
from property, plant and equipment. R = o
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REMBHRRME

24, BA&

24. SHARE CAPITAL

150

Number of
shares Share capital
g 4] (&
‘000 HK$'000 RM'000
TFhR FHT £
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each B EE0.01ATH L @A
Authorised: EE
1 June 2018, 31 May 2019 and 2018F6A1H ~ 20199F5A831H
31 May 2020 N2020%5A31H 10,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE
1 June 2018, 31 May 2019 and 2018F6A1H ~ 2019F5R831H
1June 2019 N2019%F6 A1H 620,000 6,200 3,382
Issue of subscription shares by BRI T BRBTRERD
newly allotted ordinary shares (BfzEce)
(note ¢) 68,200 682 383
At 31 May 2020 72020458318 688,200 6,882 3,765
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

24. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

@)

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the
shareholders of the Company on 27 June 2017, the
authorised share capital was increased from HKD380,000
comprising 38,000,000 shares at par value of HKD0.01 each
to HKD100,000,000 comprising 10,000,000,000 shares of par
value of HKDO0.01 each, by way of creation of an additional
9,962,000,000 shares at par value of HKD0.01 each.

On the same date, pursuant to the written resolutions
passed by the shareholders of the Company, conditional
upon the crediting of the Company’s share premium
account as a result of the issue of the public offer shares
and the placing shares for the proposed initial listing of
shares of the Company on the GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the directors of the Company
were authorised to capitalise an amount of HKD4,399,000
(equivalent to approximately RM2,400,000) standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company by
applying such sum towards the paying up in full at par a
total of 439,990,000 shares for allotment and issue to the
shareholders as of 27 June 2017 (“Capitalisation”).

On 19 July 2017, the Company has successfully listed on the
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and made
an offering of 162,000,000 new shares by way of placement
and 18,000,000 new shares by public offering priced at
HKDO0.28 per share (“Placement and public offering”).
On the same date, the Company has completed the
capitalisation issue to the shareholders after the successful
listing on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

This has resulted in the issued and paid-up share capital
increased from HKD100 comprising 10,000 shares at par
value of HKDO0.01 each to HKD6,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately RM3,382,000) comprising 620,000,000 shares
at par value of HKD0.01 each.

On 17 April 2020 (after trading hours), the Company entered
into the subscription agreement with the subscriber, the
Company alloted and issued subscription shares comprising
68,200,000 ordinary shares at par value of HK$0.01 each.
The gross proceeds were HK$8,525,000 (equivalent to
approximately RM4,782,000) based on the price of HK$0.125
per share of which a sum of HK$682,000 (equivalent to
approximately RM383,000) has credited to share capital and
the balance of HK$7,843,000 (equivalent to approximately
RM4,399,000) has credited to share premium account.

All ordinary shares issued during the year rank pari passu
with the then existing ordinary shares in all respects.

Pursuant to the written resolutions passed by the
shareholders of the Company on 27 June 2017, the
Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme.
No option was granted as at the date of this report.

24. RA& (#)

Wit -

(@)

BIEARRQFRENR2017F6F27ABIBR
EERFHE - #5152 5 519,962,000,000
M ERREE0.01B LA « JEERAH
380,000/ 7T (£ $£38,000,0000% & % E
B0.01 LAY A% 7)) & Z 100,000,000/ 7T
(82 #%10,000,000,0004% & % [ {50.017% 7T
W)

A REAQAFRBRRBBNER RS
2 BAARORMEERARERAR
AR ERARBEBMERSMERAA
GEM_ETMEIT AR B ER M R E KM M
BSHERE  BEAQRESBAARMR
19355 18 BR /9 3 BR © 54,399,000/ 7T (FHE
R #492,400,0002F ) BIHRER - FTIERT
B < IR EE 222 439,990,0008%
Bit 28 & 297 T ELZ22017F6 B27 A AR &
MR (&A1) -

M2017F7A198  ARBEKDRNES
BARZZHERARGEMLET @ WA S
TR AR 2 346 162,000,000 # A% 15+ K2 LA
NHEE 1R 2 % 518,000,000 # 3%
9 BERAESR028ET ([RER AR
£ AR ARARKNEBREHER
SHTARARCEM & TER MR ETT
BARICEELT -

I ERE BB BT AR IR AR 1007 T (8
$510,000% & A% [E (50.0178 7T & B 1) 1%
%6,200,0007% 7T (18 & R 493,382,000
&) (8#5620,000,0000% &AL E EO0.0178 7T
AR )

M2020F4R178 (R ZEEE) AR
HREA L RE R - AR AR ER
%174 £ 8 568,200,0004% & A% T {50.01
Bz EBBRORERMD - IERIER
%8 /38,525,0007% 7T (18 & M #4,782,000
SH)(BEEFR0I125ET) - Hp& H
682,0007% 7T (A8 & M 49383,0002 &) B
T AR 7R K #4%87,843,00058 7T (FHERL
4,399,0002% ) Bt ARDIAER °

AR PO T A0 AR B A
LRSS EEE RS -

RIEAR A TIIREN2017F6 A27 B @B H

EERESR -

RARE A BRI RA—IA

FEAER S - RARERH - HERD
(LA RERAE

miREBARLD T /2020 F£3R
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mEMB®RERHME

25. RESERVES 25. B
(a) SHARE PREMIUM (a) BH=E

2020
20204

RM’000

A4
<I=

At beginning of year F7) 19,891
Issue of subscription shares by %@ ¥l 26 L@ AR 31T
newly allotted ordinary shares  RBERRG (Hi:24(c))

(note 24(c)) —
At end of year FR 19,891
(b) OTHER RESERVE (b) Hftwf#
The other reserve at 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 M2019F5 4318 K&202045H31
represented the aggregate amount of the fully B # H ftb & # #8Target Precast
paid registered or paid-in capital of Target Precast Industries Sdn Bhd, Target Sales &
Industries Sdn Bhd, Target Sales & Marketing Sdn Marketing Sdn Bhd, Target Crane
Bhd, Target Crane & Logistic Sdn Bhd, Gallant Empire & Logistic Sdn Bhd, Gallant Empire
Limited, SK Target Holdings Sdn Bhd and Loyal Earn Limited, SK Target Holdings Sdn
Limited. BhdXLoyal Earn Limited®#1 2 &t
M EWERLEEE -
(c) TRANSLATION RESERVE (c) ERfAE
The translation reserve is used to record exchange SNISTE W B AR R E e E
differences arising from the translation of the BARRAEE 25| EERINEZE
financial statements of foreign operations whose BB RREENER =5 -

functional currencies are different from that of the
Group's presentation currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

26. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26. EXEBERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as going concerns while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity
balance. Equity balance consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising share capital and
retained profits.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
on an on-going annual basis. As part of this review, the
management of the Group considers the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based
on recommendations of the management of the Group, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends as well as the issue of new debt and
repayment of debt.

miREBARLD T /2020 F£3R

AEEEREEANERASESER

AR - BB R
EAFRIABE S RBEAER - F7 -
AR B HRRE T -

AEBGERERBRERE - BT
SRR, - BRI A A
A ADEERE - D ARARRE
R -

TEEEREE —BERFERENERE -
ERBHRN—HMr  AEEBTEEZRE
BAKAREREREERR - REBEA
EEEEENESR  AEEHBRAIKRM
REARBFITHERS RERERFEHE
BESE AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. €@T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) eI AER

2020 2019
20205 20194

RM’000 RM’000

A+ A=
Ea= Ed=]

Financial assets SRMEE

Financial assets at amortised REHK AT
cost TRIEE 34,195 34,391

Equity investment & fE1% & 561 -

Financial liabilities SREE

Amortised cost B SERE AR 6,361
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIEEAREEEEZERBIR

and policies

The Group’'s major financial instruments and details rEEWNFZEemTARZES R

of these financial instruments are disclosed in the TEMFFEREEMTRE - %

respective notes. The risks associated with these £ F T EARR A E e R RE

financial instruments and the policies on how to ZERBOBEEEHSAT o

mitigate these risks are set out below.

Market risk Lk 1

Interest rate risk Fil % 7 fiz

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk AN ER BT AR BRI T A AR K B

in relation to the Group’s bank balances and fair & AR E B FEREN AT ET

value interest rate risk in relation to fixed rate lease EREBg o

liabilities.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate 7N 5% 2 2R PRp I ) SR R R o A

hedging policy. However, management closely i IR R ) B 5 Th 5 ) R

monitors its exposure to future cash flow interest rate M S| BEmE R ARBRHEL

risk as a result of changes in market interest rates B - WA R ERE EE T

and will consider hedging changes in market interest SR REF) o

rates should the need arise.
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27. EMT A (&)
(b) MBEEABEREEREREE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Lease liabilities which are fixed rate instruments are
insensitive to any change in interest rates. A change
in interest rate at the end of the reporting period
would not affect profit or loss.

No sensitivity analysis is provided on bank balances
as the management of the Company considers that
the interest rate fluctuation on bank are minimal and
the impact from the exposure to interest rate risk
sensitivity is considered insignificant.

Currency risk

The Group has certain bank balances denominated in
HKD other that the functional currency of respective
group entities, which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk.

The Group manages the risk by closely monitoring the
movement of the foreign currency rate.

If the currency of the respective cash and bank
balances had been 5% higher/lower, the post-tax loss
of the Group for the year will decrease/increase by:

(4)
HEER (4)

SBES I

IR T A S A B AR
(BB TG - RIS K -

MEEBETRYE A -

BB SRIT AR IR BURE T
RERBARRREEERBRITHFN
TRBMTRE - AstEET XA
DEGURENS @ FEWRRLT
EXe

E¥mEk
BREEREBERBNEERIN  AEH
ETRITHESRIABTTEHE - Kt
AEEEERINE RS o

R MR B B EE R 2 )
ERHAR -

MERERRITEBRNEETIE,
f2185% @ RIS E R F AR R
EERRD 180

The Group
AEE
2020
2020

RM’000

A=
<A
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REMBHRRME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

156

and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is primarily due
to the collectability risk of the trade receivables.
The length of the credit period granted by the Group
will depend on the customers’ scale of operation,
reputation and credibility. The Group performs
ongoing credit evaluation on the financial condition
of trade debtors and tightly monitors the overdue
debts. The Group will take the necessary follow up
action in case of long outstanding debts or when the
above credit evaluation results draw the attention of
management.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which might cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties arises from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk with its exposure spread over a large number of
customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds of the Group is limited
because the counterparties are banks with good
credit ratings and the Group has limited exposure to
any single financial institution.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. The Group performs impairment assessment
under ECL model upon application of IFRS 9 on trade
balances individually. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

27. EMT A (&)
(b) MBEEABEREEREREE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal credit
rating
R E EFR

Description

3

(%)

FERBREBER S (&)

EFEHELNE ZENIIE (B)

AEBENABNEER BT RF S

BIEATER -

Trade receivables

B 7 EWHE

other financial
assets

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  Lifetime ECL - not 12-month ("12m”")
have any past-due amounts credit-impaired ECL
(b RPEFANENERERE - BUREAEENTRE 2HEHEEEE 12188 ([1218R 1)
ABEEERE BHEEEBE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL - not 12m ECL
settle after due date credit-impaired
ERRE EBRALEREHARER ERAFRONAELES 2HBRHEERE NEABHEES
AEEEERE =
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL - not Lifetime ECL - not
since initial recognition through information developed credit-impaired credit-impaired
internally or external resources
e NRHSNDEREGNENBRETERANREER 2HBHEEER 2HBRHEEEE
fEEEm AEEEERE AEEEERE
LoSS There is evidence indicating the asset is creditimpaired  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
creditimpaired creditimpaired
BB BRBBETEECDREGERNE 2 HRHEEER 2 HRBEEEE
BEERERE BREEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off ~ Amount is written
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic off
prospect of recovery
b BEBETEBABABRENNBERAAASEYEER  BHEFIAENS BB

WEl T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €I A (%)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIKEREEEERKE
and policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment BEERERBETE (&)
(Continued)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with BEFAKEENE ZEKE (&)
customers (Continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TRFMAANEBBEZBHREES
the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL BHHNeREENEERREMK
assessment: H o

2020 2019

Gross Gross

External Internal carrying  carrying

Note credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL  amount  amount

20206 2019%
W HBEETR ABEEIR 126ANHENCEFE AREE AREE
RM'000  RM'000

ToE  F4%

Financial assets at amortised cost

BRENASTENEBAE
Amount owing from ultimate
holding company 19 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 17 9
Tl AR 1 B 500R MR (&) 2ERBHEESE
Amount owing from a shareholder 19 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 13 7
ERBRRTE o ili (Hf&E1) 2EARHEERR
short-term bank deposits 2 A1, AAA N/A 12m ECL 10,135 6,034
RHRITER TER 2EARHEEEE
Cash at bank A1, AA3, AAA N/A 12m ECL 12,712 14,909
RiTRE MR 12ERBHEEEE
Other receivables 18 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 154 2,755
Rt EMRE @R (1) 2EABAEERR
Deposits 18 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL 3177 746
% MR (Hf&E1) 2EARHEERE
Lifetime ECL - not
Trade receivables - goods and services 18 N/A Low risk credit-impaired 4,314 2,52
B5BUGRE - &N RS o ili EER FHEHCERE
AREREAE
Watch list Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired 1,534 4,185
BEiRE FHEHEERE
AREERAE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL - not
credit-impaired 825 1,512
R 2HBHEEEE
AREREAE
Loss Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired 2,184 1,836
B 2EBALEEE
BREEENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. €®IA (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b)
and policies (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with

customers (Continued)

Note:

1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Past due

o
RM'000

A
< A

Amount owing from ultimate J& U & 4242 i% A &)

holding company KIE -
Amount owing from a JE W AR R R IB

shareholder -
Other receivables H e IR -
Deposits 2& -

MERBEEBEERBE
(#)

FERBREBER S (&)

EFEHELNE ZENIIE (B)

Kyt -

1. HRAREERREEME @ A%KE
EREBENTG B MRERRE
EREmB RS AR -

Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
terms

KA EEE
BERAAR
RM’000

A=
< A

17 17
13 13
154 154
3,177 3,177

Past due

ol
RM'000

A
< A

Amount owing from ultimate &k & &R4E AL A &)

holding company I8 -
Amount owing from a FEU AR R SR IE

shareholder -
Other receivables Ho A pE M RIR 2,296
Deposits by o -

Not past due/
No fixed
repayment
terms

KRB EEE
BRI
RM'000

A=t
< A

9 9
7 7
459 2,755
746 746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 27. €I A (%)

(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) BIKEREEEERKE
and policies (continued) (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment BEERERBETE (&)
(Continued)
Trade receivables arising from contracts with BEFAKEENE ZEKE (&)
customers (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime TRINTBEBE T EZRE HEK
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables FIEERNEHEHREEBENE
under the simplified approach. g o

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

2 HIFAH 2 HITAE

FEER FEER
REE E84E
FERE FERE
RM'000 RM'000

A At
< B ~X =

As at 1 June 2018 R2018F6H1H - 373 373
— Impairment losses recognised — BERRBAERRE 27 - 27
— Impairment losses reversed — BEVRERE - (110) (110)
- Write-offs — HsH - (161) (161)
As at 31 May 2019 HR2019F5831H 27 102 129
As at 1 June 2019 R2019F6 A1H 27 102 129
— Impairment losses recognised — DERBAEBE 764 - 764
- Write-offs — i sH - (23) (23)
As at 31 May 2020 72020 5A31H 791 79 870
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers (Continued)

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the
Group applies internal credit rating for its borrowers.
The ECL rate are estimated based on its credit rating,
past and current default record and current past
due exposure of the borrower. At 31 May 2020, the
trade receivables of approximately RM7,875,000 was
past due (2019: RM12,555,000) and impairment 10ss
of approximately RM870,000 was recognised for the
year end 31 May 2020 (2019: RM129,000).

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there
is information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings.

The Group make periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
guantitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The director
of the Group believe that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition. At 31 May 2020, the Group provided
impairment loss of approximately RM369,000 (2019:
Nil) based on 12-month ECL.
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(b)
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

162

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities which has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of the non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates
for the financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows, to the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

Weighted

average On demand or
less than
12 months

effective
interest rate
e
1k

As at 31 May 2019 R2019%54318
Payables and accrued charges N FUEREHER
As at 31 May 2020 2020554318
Payables and accrued charges  FERFUERE B R
Lease liabilities (note) HESE (W)

Note:

Lease liabilities include amounts recognised at the date of
transition to IFRS 16 in respect of lease previously classified
as operating lease under IAS 17 and amounts relating to new
leases entered into during the year. Under this approach,
the comparative information is not restated. See note 2.
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EERRBESRARE - AEESH
R PR FEYKFETESR
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ERNHNZF BMNIITES R
BERAURESREIT - ©HA
BRI A REGEEKEHAM
5 o

KRPBREMNEEASRERE -
MEZFBNE - RRAER S IR
WEMROM K AREAE -

Total Total
undiscounted carrying
cash flows amount
AMRRS
HEAES BEE

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

(c)

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The Company provides financial guarantees to banks
for banking facilities of its subsidiary company. The
Company monitors on an ongoing basis, the results of
the subsidiary company and repayments made by the
subsidiary company. The maximum exposure to credit
risk are equivalent to the amounts of the banking
facilities utilised by the said subsidiary company as
of the reporting date. As of the reporting date, there
was no indicator that the subsidiary company would
default on repayment.

Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy
The following table presents the fair value of
the Group’s financial instruments measured at
the end of the reporting period on a recurring
basis, categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as
follows:

° Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured
using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date

° Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured
using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable
inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available.

° Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured
using significant unobservable inputs
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurement (continued)

164

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The Group has a team headed by the finance
manager performing valuations for the financial
instruments, including equity investment which
are categorised into Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The team reports directly to the chief
financial officer and the audit committee. A
valuation report with analysis of changes in fair
value measurement is prepared by the team at
each interim and annual reporting date, and is
reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. Discussion of the valuation process and
results with the chief financial officer and the
audit committee is held twice a year, to coincide
with the reporting dates.

Fair value measurements as at
31 May 2020 categorised into
H020%5831A 282 A TR E

Fair value at
31 May 2020

Level 1 Level 2
120208

5A31R

LAVE F1ER 2B
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At Ax AL
A YA A

Recurring far value % AT Ext
messurements  §

Assets: 45
Financial assets  #ATEH AR
atFvpL H/EREE

Equityinvestrment~ RERE

During the year ended 31 May 2020, there were
no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's
policy is to recognise transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the
reporting period in which they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) Fair value measurement (continuead)
(i) Financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value (Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value
measurements

Valuation techniques
B # 1iT

Unlisted equity
instruments
JELETRATA

ISR & LA R

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments
is determined using the price/earning ratios
of comparable listed companies adjusted for
lack of marketability discount. The fair value
measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability. As at 31
May 2020, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase
in discount for lack of marketability by 20%
would have increased/decreased the Group's
other comprehensive income by approximately
RM300,000 (2019: Nil).

(ii) Fair value of the financial assets and
liabilities carried other than fair value
The directors consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate
their fair values. Fair values of the financial
assets and financial liabilities have been
determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis, with the most significant
inputs being the discount rate that reflects the
credit risk of counterparties.

Market comparable companies
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(c) AFVEFE @)
() BAFESBENEHMEE

REaE &)
BHE=ZRANFEFTEZE
#

Significant

unobservable inputs Range

BEXRTUERGAZE & [E

Discount for lack of 20%

marketability

Rz S RmIEAL IR
FELFTRATAENAFEETY
FRAELE EMARINT

BE W=z mIERA N
WRELAEMEE - AF
BEtERRZ TS RBMENR
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B fWrEEmES T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

METDHEENEEHERT

28. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details the reconciliation of opening and
closing amounts in the consolidated statement of financial

28.

TREJINGEEHERERD B
RBETPNASRESHBENESE

166

position for each liability for which cash flows have
been or would be, classified as financing activities in the
consolidated statement of cash flows:

ISR R 2 IV M AR S B AR 1S

Amounts
received
Share Share from a Interest Lease
capital premium  shareholder payable liabilities
Eh-%
S RiaE RRHE EfAS HEER
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
T2E T2E 2 Fot
At 1 June 2018 #2018%F67 1A 3,382 19,891 12 - - 23,285
Changes from financing cash flows:  BEBE4HELE !
Decrease in amounts received from Bl—2REFE
a shareholder b - - (12) - - (12)
Interest paid Biifle - - - (14) - (1)
3,382 19,891 - (14) - 23259
Other changes: Rth2E
Interest expenses f8Ex - - - 14 - 14
At 31 May 2019 and 1 Jung 2019 R201955A318 R
019%6A1H 3,382 19,891 - - - 23213
Changes from financing cash flows;  REE4HELH:
Capital element of lease rentals paid Bz ERHS - - - - (2,098) 2,099)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BRfgzHERS - - - - (136) (136)
Proceeds from issue of shares Bk FEE 383 4,39 - - - 4782
Finance costs paid BRBERA - - - (39) - (39)
3765 24,29 - 39 (2.280) 25732
Other changes: Rth2E
Increase in lease liabilities from entering — £RETUHEE,
into new lease during the year HEaBEEN - - - - 5478 5478
Interest expenses fSR% - - - 39 186 205
At 31 May 2020 #2020F5A318 3,765 24290 - - 3,380 31435
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

29. BANKING FACILITIES 29. RITELE

A subsidiary company of the Group has banking facilities R E B A — BB A B 7201945 A31

amounting to RM5,750,000 and RM5,750,000 as at 31 May B K202055H31H®RITRE D 5 A

2019 and 31 May 2020 respectively. 5,750,000% % &5,750,0009 F °

These facilities are secured by: ZEME RN T SIRER

(i)  leasehold land and building with a carrying amount ()  PA2019F5H31H K202045 A 31
of approximately RM241,000 and RM149,000 as at 31 AEREED B4 /241,0009F
May 2019 and 31 May 2020 respectively; 149,000 HWHE T RIEF

(i) fixed deposits amounting to approximately @iy  F2019F5A318 K202095431H
RM1,034,000 and RM1,135,000 as at 31 May 2019 and 7 BI#941,034,000% 7 K1,135,000
31 May 2020 respectively; and SENTEBRFT &

(iiiy corporate guarantee by the Company amounting to (i) PA20199F5A4318 K&2020%F5H31H
RM5,750,000 and RM5,750,000 as at 31 May 2019 and R A A 32 #95,750,0002 F &
31 May 2020. 5,750,000 F A FELR ©

There are utilisation of banking facilities amounted #H E2019F5H31H &2020%F5A318 -

to RM534,000 as of 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 BARIRITEE D 5 /534,0009F °

respectively.

WHmEEARAT /2020 £ 167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

30. LEASE COMMITMENT
The Group as lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments in
respect of factory, shop, staff accommodation and office
equipment under non-cancellable operating leases which
fall due as follows:

within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year inclusive  $£-ZhH4E
(BREEEMFE)

At 31 May 2020, the Group was the lessee in respect of
certain properties and assets under lease which were
classified as short-term leases under IFRS 16. The Group
elected to recognise the lease payments for these leases
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, rather than
applying the new lessee accounting model. The total future
minimum lease payments under such non-cancellable
operating lease of approximately RM517,000 are payable
within one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

31. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 31. AMIE A RS
During the year, the Company has direct and indirect FR - ARARTIMBRRERE AR
shareholders/equity interests in the following subsidiary NI E AR
companies:

Equity attributable to the Group

AEBELRE

Place of Issued and As at As at

incorporation/ fully paid-up 31 May 31 May
Name of Company operation share capital 2020 2019 Principal activities

i i

FEMEL BRTE  2020%F 20194
AR ER EEBE BEKRA 58318 5A31A EEEH
Target Precast Industries  Malaysia RM500,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and trading of precast

Sdn. Bhd. BRAD 500,0002 % concrete junction boxes

HEREBRNERLERSE

Target Sales & Marketing ~ Malaysia RM70,002 100% 100%  Trading of precast concrete junction
Sdn. Bhd. BRAD 70,0022 % boxes and accessories and pipes
EERMRELRGAREHLEE

Target Crane & Logistic Malaysia RM100 100% 100%  Provision of mobile crane rental and
Sdn. Bhd. BRAD 1008F ancillary services
REBHLERAEREERS

Gallant Empire Limited* British Virgins US$1,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Island 1,000%7T REER
EERIHES
SK Target Holdings Malaysia RM100 100% 100% Investment holding
Sdn. Bhd. BRAED 10028 RERR
Loyal Earn Limited Hong Kong HKD1 100% 100%  Provision of sourcing of material
Ak 187 suppliers services

BRGA RHRRB (B R IR TS

Target Foundry Sdn Bhd'  Malaysia RM100 100% 100%  Inactive
BARAES 10028 EmEx
Extra Mega Limited? Hong Kong HKD1 100% 100%  Provision of Japanese catering services
B0 1787T R BRRS
SK Solutions Limited Hong Kong HKD100 100% - Inactive
£ 10077 Tmex
* Directly held by the Company * BARRIEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHME

31. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

(Continued)
Notes:

(1

On 1 September 2017, the Group acquired the entire
issued share capital of Target Foundry Sdn Bhd (“Target
Foundry”), a dormant company incorporated in Malaysia,
for a cash consideration of RM100 from Mr. Loh Swee
Keong, a director of the Company and his sibling, Ms. Loh
Lily. This acquisition has been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The amount of goodwill arising as a
result of the acquisition was RM10,338.

Extra Mega Limited ("EML") was incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability on 4 April 2018. On the date of
incorporation, EML allotted and issued as fully paid one (1)
share (representing the entire share capital of EML) to the
initial subscriber, which was then transferred to Gallant
Empire Ltd. at the consideration of HKD1 on 26 April 2018.
EML is engaged in the provision of Japanese catering
services in China — Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiary companies had issued any debt
securities at the end of the reporting period.
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31. RHB LTS (&)

et -

(1

R201749R1H - AEBBEARAESE
Loh Swee Keong’t4 REREERLON LilyZ
+ U BETarget Foundry Sdn Bhd ([ Target
Foundry]) 2B ETRA - Z AR AR—
MR ERAEEMAZNTERAF - B
SREAI105EH - ZRBEEIEAK
BEAR WBSEMEEANPESEA
10,3385 % ©

Extra Mega Limited ([EMLJ) 7420184
BABEEBEMKRIABRAR - Rt
Az B HA - EMUBABIUR BR 302 SO 25 &2
BT (WAL GEE REMLEY 2 ZBRR AN )
THFREA - HER2018F4 268 BA
K {8175 7T # & FGallant Empire Ltd. °
EMLAR BB BLE ARERE -

PR B QRN s PBARBEITEMER
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g
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

32.

33.

34.

PERFORMANCE GUARANTEE

At the end of the reporting periods, the Group has provided
a performance guarantee in respect of a project signed
with Telekom Malaysia Berhad, a customer, amounting to
RM534,000 for securing a project. This guarantee will be
discharged upon the completion of the project.

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

(@) Balances with related parties are disclosed in the
consolidated statement of financial position and in
note 19.

(b) The remuneration paid or payable to the key
management personnel, being the directors of the
Company, during the year is included in Note 6.
The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined with reference to the performance of the
individuals and market trends.

(c) Acquisition of the entire interest in Target Foundry
Sdn. Bhd. from Mr. Loh Swee Keong, a director of
the Company and Ms. Loh Lily, the sibling of Mr. Loh
Swee Keong as disclosed in note 31.

LITIGATION

On 26 October 2017, a subsidiary company of the Group
has filed a writ and statement of claim in Kuala Lumpur
High Court to premise the invalidation of the registered
patent of precast concrete junction box cover purportedly
held by the former supplier.

On 8 June 2018, the suit was withdrawn upon a settlement
agreement entered into by both parties on 7 June 2018 that
the former supplier shall pay a total of RM80,000 to the
subsidiary company.

The settlement amount had been received by the
subsidiary during the financial year ended 31 May 2019.

32.

33.

34.

miREBARLD T /2020 F£3R

ERER

RBEHAR AEEERE—FEP
Telekom Malaysia BerhadzsEmERB R
HELER £5A534,0009 % IE
REFIEE - ZEREHIER FTTRIE R o

BB X Z
(@ EERBTHNESNEEPHIREK
R BREE 1945 5%

b) FREMNKEFEZEEABRIAR
NRIESE) WFHHENH T T8
EEABNFHII2EEARRR
MISBEEE -

(€ BnMFE31FTHE B8 BLoh Swee
KeongstE (A RBES) Kloh Lily
#Z+(Loh Swee KeongseAHIpLK)
U BETarget Foundry Sdn. Bhd.H &
it o

EiE

2017108268 + ANEE—FHK B AR
EREEESEEMRER —MEMRER
FE - EBRABBARIMHERFENER
R T RS ENTMER &R

R2018F 6 A8H » #2018 F6A7HE]
S B EE - ERRitEEERNE A
AIXFEF80,0009 % + sZFFFAE AR -

REE2019E5A318 2 T EE R 0
fiR R IA D B BB A R URER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period includes:

Non-Current Asset FkRBEE
Investment in a subsidiary company  REIEBATHIRE
current Assets REEE

Receivables, deposits and
prepayment

FEWRIA ~ e RIBR

Amount owing from subsidiary L NG
companies (Note a) (Kiaxa)

Cash on hand and at bank FHERRTRS

Total Current Assets RENEEAE

Current Liabilities REBEE

Payable and accrued charges FERTFIE R FEET &

Amount owing to subsidiary AN NG
companies (Note a) (Htita)

Total Current Liabilities FEBBELARE

Net Current Liabilities ERBAE

Net Liabilities FEE

Capital and Reserves EXRFHE

Share capital [N

Share premium B @ (B

Accumulated losses (note b)

REtEE (WaEb)

Total Equity

EEAR
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35. ALQTWHBARR R

ARRIRHRERROABANROER €
T

2019
20194
RM’000

A=
<0

499
104

603

520

2,676

3,196

(2,593)

(2,589)

24,290 19,891
3,765 3,382
(29,291) (25,862)

(1,236) (2,589)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 35. KRBT HMBERRR (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)
The movements of accumulated loss is as follows: EFTEENEEIT

2020 2019
20204 20194

RM’'000 RM’000

P A=
<A ~< B

At beginning of year RELD (25,862)

Loss and total comprehensive 10ss FHRNBELRTEBELEE
for the year (3,429) (14,645)

At end of year RFR (29,291) (25,862)

Notes: /}/7‘3 .

(@  The amounts owing from/(to) subsidiary companies are (@)  FEU(FEF) MIB A B ZIE A EE A -
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. @B RBRERES o

(b)  The loss for the year ended 31 May 2019 and 31 May 2020 (b)  EE2019E5A318 K20205E5 4310 [FF
mainly comprises the allowance for credit losses recognised EvEBTESREREKWEZRDF
against amount owing from subsidiary companies of TR H = B E 18 B 1513,629,0005 &
RM13,629,000 and RM1,115,000 respectively. 1,115,000% % °

The financial position of the Company was approved and AT AR R AESE =2 R2020F8

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 August R25BHLEW TR WA NIESR

2020 and are signed on behalf by: e

Loh Swee Keong Chu Kin Ming

SRR
Director Independent Non-Executive Director
- BUIFNTEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

36. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2020
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
IASB has issued a number of amendments and a new
standard which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 May 2020 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These developments include the
following which may be relevant to the Group.

IFRS 17
Amendments to IFRS 3

Insurance Contracts’

Definition of a Business?

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework®

COVID-19-Related Rent
Cconcessions®

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform*

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IFRS 9,
IAS 39 and IFRS 7

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Definition of Material*

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

Amendments to IAS 1
and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
uses

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Annual Improvements to IFRSS

2018-2020°

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSs

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

2 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to
be determined

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMB®RERHNE

36.

37.

38.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MAY 2020 (continued)

In addition to the above new and amendments to IFRSS,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in IFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has initially applied IFRS 16 at 1 June 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of
the changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note 2.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The outbreak of coronavirus “COVID-19" (the “COVID-19")
in early 2020 has brought additional uncertainties in
the Group’s operating environment and may impact the
Group's operations and financial position. The management
of the Group has closely monitored the impact from the
epidemic on the Group’s businesses.

Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 together with the
Sino-US trade war continuing, the management of the
Group expects these factors may create more uncertainty
to the growth of the economy in the foreseeable future.
The management of the Group will continue to monitor the
business environment and make appropriate adjustments
to the Group's operations should there be a need.

36.

37.

38.

miREBARLD T /2020 F£3R

EEMEREZE2020F5A31H
I FEEARER BT ~ HBE
AIRZEBZTRSE (&)

B EX 2] R AT I iR £
RSN BT 2 BHRE ZBMSERD
R20184F MR - EAEEIER] - BRI 7%
HERR 2 BOAERIE S 2 ER] - BN
2020F 1 AMBE 2 R AB I FE IR L

<]

o

ARAEEBE DG E M5 R
15 2T PR B T 40 45 A AT B SR AL TR
SUGAHBREELBAVE -

LB
AEEER2019F6A1A B BHEABK
1EETBME B IR E A BIRR B 7% i &5 22 R
B165% o IRBEZ A E  LREBTTE
5o BRAGFTBUREE) L — PRFIBI
BRI EE2 ©

BEMRKERER

200F FOBEBHET KK S
[COVID-19]([COVID-19 ) & B # A&
EMEERBESRTESNTREEME
WAL B AL E R B RENXT
2. XEBERERETYEIREY
REEEBHTE -

RARCOVID-9M B R EE HE M
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175



FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEHBERE

Year ended 31 May
BZE5A31ALEE
RESULTS 2020 2019 2018

ES 20205 20194 20184
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

A A At
=] <8 Ed=

Revenue WA 23,012 29,451 38,194 33,595 33,281
Gross profit EF 6,682 7,592 8,761 10,423 9,929
(Loss)/Profit before taxation BFiAT (E518),/ % F| (3,966) (1,905) (1,909) 606 6,566
(Loss)/Profit for the year &R (EB1#8),/ &H (4,428) (2,649) (3,090) (1,109) 4,895

As at 31 May
M5H31H8
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 2020 2018

BEREE 20204 20184

RM'000 RM'000

P A=
<A E=]

Total assets EEHE 46,187 42,076 47,907 28,632 20,862
Total liabilities aEEs 10,079 6,642 10,215 10,149 9,279
Net assets FEE 36,108 35,434 37,692 18,483 11,583
CAPITAL AND RESERVES &&

Total equity R EE 36,108 35,434 37,692 18,483 11,583
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